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o 
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Santa Fe, New Mexico 

This matter came on f o r hearing before t h e New 

Mexico O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n , DAVID BROOKS, Hearing 

Examiner, on Thursday, September 2 0th, 2001, a t the New 

Mexico Energy, Minerals and Natural Resources Department, 

12 2 0 South Saint Francis Drive, Room 102, Santa Fe, New 

Mexico, Steven T. Brenner, C e r t i f i e d Court Reporter No. 7 

f o r the State of New Mexico. 
* * * 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



2 

I N D E X 

September 2 0th, 2001 
Examiner Hearing 
CASE NO. 12,730 

PAGE 

EXHIBITS 3 

APPEARANCES 4 

APPLICANT'S WITNESSES: 

DAN LEONARD (Landman) 
D i r e c t Examination by Mr. Bruce 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Gallegos 
Redirect Examination by Mr. Bruce 
Examination by Examiner Brooks 

6 
36 
87 
88 

JOHN WORRALL (Geolocrist) 
D i r e c t Examination by Mr. Bruce 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Gallegos 
Examination by Examiner Brooks 

90 
96 
97 

COATES WITNESS: 

SHERRIE GREEN 
D i r e c t Examination by Mr. Gallegos 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Bruce 

99 
127 

CLOSING STATEMENTS: 
By Mr. Bruce 
By Mr. Gallegos 
By Mr. Bruce 

135 
135 
135 

REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE 137 

* * * 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



3 

E X H I B I T S 

A p p l i c a n t •s I d e n t i f i e d Admitted 

E x h i b i t 1 6 36 
E x h i b i t 2 7, 8 36 
E x h i b i t 3A 8 36 

E x h i b i t 3B 11 36 
E x h i b i t 4 31 36 
E x h i b i t 5 32 36 

E x h i b i t 6 32 36 
E x h i b i t 7 91 96 
E x h i b i t 8 91 96 
E x h i b i t 9 91 96 

E x h i b i t 10 93 96 
E x h i b i t 11 93 96 
E x h i b i t 12 - 96 

E x h i b i t 13 — 96 
E x h i b i t 14 92 96 

* * * 

Coates I d e n t i f i e d Admitted 

E x h i b i t 1 106 
E x h i b i t 2 109 -
E x h i b i t 3 109 -

E x h i b i t 4 111 _ 
E x h i b i t 5 111 -
E x h i b i t 6 112 -

E x h i b i t 7 115 
E x h i b i t 8 115 -
E x h i b i t 9 116 -

E x h i b i t 10 117 _ 

E x h i b i t 11 117 -
E x h i b i t 12 118 -

(Continued...) 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



4 

E X H I B I T S 

Coates I d e n t i f i e d Admitted 

E x h i b i t 13 
E x h i b i t 14 
E x h i b i t 15 

119 
52, 120 
58, 121 

E x h i b i t 16 60, 123 

* * * 

A P P E A R A N C E S 

FOR THE APPLICANT: 

JAMES G. BRUCE, Attorney a t Law 
3304 Camino Lisa 
Santa Fe, New Mexico 87501 
P.O. Box 1056 
Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504 

FOR COATES ENERGY TRUST: 

GALLEGOS LAW FIRM 
460 St. Michael's Drive, #300 
Santa Fe, New Mexico 87505 
By: J.E. GALLEGOS 

ALSO PRESENT: 

MICHAEL E. STOGNER 
Hearing Examiner 
New Mexico O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n 
1220 South Saint Francis Drive 
Santa Fe, NM 87501 

* * * 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

WHEREUPON, the f o l l o w i n g proceedings were/had a t 

10:25 a.m.: 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Case Number 12,731 w i l l be 

postponed u n t i l 1:30 t h i s afternoon. 

And a t t h i s time w e ' l l c a l l Case Number 12,73 0, 

A p p l i c a t i o n of Leonard Resource Investment Corporation f o r 

compulsory p o o l i n g , Lea County, New Mexico. 

C a l l f o r appearances. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, Jim Bruce of Santa Fe, 

rep r e s e n t i n g the Appli c a n t . I have the same two witnesses, 

Mr. Leonard and Mr. W o r r a l l , who were sworn i n f o r the 

p r i o r case. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay. 

MR. GALLEGOS: Representing Coates Energy T r u s t , 

Gene Gallegos, Santa Fe, New Mexico. We have one witness. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Would a l l of the witnesses 

please stand and each i d e n t i f y themselves f o r the record? 

You a l l have been p r e v i o u s l y sworn, so you don't 

have t o be sworn again. Only the new witness needs t o be 

sworn. 

MS. GREEN: Yes, I'm Sherrie Green, I'm w i t h 

Coates Energy Tr u s t . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay. 

(Thereupon, the a d d i t i o n a l witness was sworn.) 

EXAMINER BROOKS: You may c a l l your f i r s t 
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witness, Mr. Bruce. 

MR. BRUCE: C a l l Mr. Leonard back t o the stand. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay, you may proceed when 

ready, Mr. Bruce. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, i f the record could 

r e f l e c t t h a t my f i r s t witness, Mr. Dan Leonard, was also 

q u a l i f i e d as an expert petroleum landman? 

EXAMINER BROOKS: That i s c o r r e c t . Are t h e r e any 

ob j e c t i o n s t o h i s c r e d e n t i a l s since t h i s case i s contested 

and the previous one was not. 

MR. GALLEGOS: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: His c r e d e n t i a l s w i l l be 

accepted. 

DAN LEONARD. 

the witness h e r e i n , having been p r e v i o u s l y d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Mr. Leonard, would you i d e n t i f y Leonard Resource 

E x h i b i t 1 and describe what Leonard seeks i n t h i s case? 

A. E x h i b i t 1 i s a land p l a t of the area h i g h l i g h t i n g 

i n y e l l o w the 40-acre t r a c t t h a t i s the southeast q u a r t e r 

of t he northwest quarter of Section 2, Township 2 0 South, 

Range 38 East, Lea County, New Mexico. 

As w i t h the previous case, we are re q u e s t i n g an 
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order p o o l i n g t h i s quarter quarter from the surface t o the 

base of the Abo. The u n i t w i l l be dedicated t o Capataz 

Operating, Inc . ' s , White Owl Number 1 w e l l , which w i l l be 

l o c a t e d 1650 f e e t from the n o r t h l i n e and 2100 f e e t from 

the west l i n e of Section 2. 

Q. And again, Leonard Resource requests t h a t Capataz 

Operating, I n c . , be designated operator of t h i s w e l l ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Let's do the same t h i n g , and I might have messed 

you up a l i t t l e b i t , on the i n t e r e s t s being pooled again, 

Mr. Leonard. But f i r s t go t o the f i r s t page of E x h i b i t 2 

and describe the i n t e r e s t s as they c u r r e n t l y e x i s t . 

A. The i n t e r e s t ownership a t present, Leonard 

Resource Investment Corporation, e t a l . , owns 72.789063 

percent of the — We have 3 0 o i l and gas leases covering 

7 3.789 percent of the minerals i n t h a t 40-acre t r a c t . 

The p a r t i e s w i t h known addresses we are seeking 

t o f o r c e pool own 25.43457 percent. P a r t i e s w i t h no known 

addresses being f o r c e pooled, .77637 percent. 

Q. Okay. Now, w i t h respect t o the p a r t i e s w i t h 

known addresses, i t ' s 2 5.4-plus percent. Of t h a t , what 

amount i s Coates Energy Trust? 

A. Twenty-five percent, an undivided q u a r t e r . 

Q. An undivided equal one quarter? 

A. Yes, s i r . 
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Q. And again i f you move t o the spreadsheet a t the 

back, i t l i s t s c e r t a i n l o c a t a b l e persons, i n p a r t i c u l a r 

Wells Fargo Bank Trustee; Levy Brothers, LLC; and Robert 

Joe Reichert. Those who you could l o c a t e ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And you seek t o fo r c e pool those p a r t i e s ? 

A. Yes, we do. 

Q. And the other l o c a t a b l e p a r t y you seek t o f o r c e 

pool i s Coates Energy Trust? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. And then also on t h i s l i s t t h ere's a 

number of p a r t i e s l i s t e d below the Reichert i n t e r e s t . 

Those were a l l — Those are a l l p a r t i e s you were unable t o 

l o c a t e ; i s t h a t correct? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. Let's discuss your e f f o r t s t o o b t a i n the 

v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r of the p a r t i e s . Let's f i r s t go t o your 

E x h i b i t 2 and your E x h i b i t 3A and discuss your e f f o r t s t o 

o b t a i n the j o i n d e r of the bank, Levy Brothers and Mr. 

Reicher t . 

A. The f i r s t i n t e r e s t i s the Wells Fargo Bank, 

Trustee f o r the J.M. Armstrong Estate i n Midland, and t h i s 

i s the same t r u s t department t h a t we addressed i n the 

previous case. Same exact problem, we contacted these 

people back i n March and we have an agreement i n p r i n c i p l e 
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t o proceed. We have made numerous requests f o r a copy of 

t h e i r o i l and gas lease, which we've entered i n t o w i t h them 

before and don't perceive t h a t t o be a problem; we j u s t 

simply can't get them t o process the o i l and gas lease and 

present i t t o us. So a t t h i s p o i n t , since we've got a r i g 

l i n e d up and preparing t o d r i l l the w e l l , we have no o p t i o n 

but t o proceed. 

Q. And again, i f you do come t o terms w i t h them you 

w i l l n o t i f y the D i v i s i o n t h a t they should not be s u b j e c t t o 

a p o o l i n g order? 

A. Sure, we w i l l . 

Q. Now what about Levy Brothers, LLC. 

A. Levy Brothers, as the r i g h t - h a n d column on Mr. 

Votaw's spreadsheet suggests, we attempted t o contact them 

back i n May. J u l y we sent l e t t e r s t o them, we l e f t more 

messages. We got an answering machine t h a t sounds l i k e 

t h a t they have an ongoing business, but we've never 

received a response, e i t h e r i n w r i t i n g or by telephone, 

from them. 

Q. Okay, and what about Mr. Reichert? 

A. The Reichert i n t e r e s t , we haven't found — We've 

got t h i s address from him out of the records, but I b e l i e v e 

i t ' s w i t h the — as i n the previous case, w i t h the known 

address t h a t we've gotten no response from. We've g o t t e n 

our correspondence returned from him as not d e l i v e r a b l e . 
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We suspect t h a t there's been a death here, but we j u s t 

don't have any i n f o r m a t i o n w i t h which t o proceed. 

Q. And you d i d make a search t o determine i f t h i s 

was the proper address f o r them? 

A. Yes, s i r , we've searched the Lea County O f f i c e s , 

the records, the t a x r o l l s , we've gone through the 

I n t e r n e t , the d i r e c t o r y assistances and a l l those t h i n g s 

t h a t we t y p i c a l l y have access t o and have had no lu c k . 

Q. And i n your opin i o n as t o these t h r e e p a r t i e s , 

has Leonard Resource made a good f a i t h e f f o r t t o o b t a i n 

t h e i r v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r i n the well? 

A. We have. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , what about the unloc a t a b l e persons 

l i s t e d on the spreadsheet attached t o E x h i b i t 2? Could you 

again j u s t b r i e f l y go over the records t h a t were examined 

t o t r y t o determine the whereabouts of these people? 

A. Well, as Mr. Votaw's spreadsheet suggests, the 

same basic modus operandi. We went t o the records, we've 

searched the county records, the t a x r o l l s , the deaths and 

probates, the l a s t known o i l and gas lease t h a t these 

people entered i n t o , which again were many, many years ago, 

gave no known addresses f o r these people, and there's j u s t 

n o t h i n g i n the records, or the Lea County records, t o gi v e 

us a lead. So then we went t o the I n t e r n e t and the various 

s e r v i c e s t h a t we have access t o th e r e through the I n t e r n e t 
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t o f i n d e i t h e r a phone number or an address f o r them and 

d i d n ' t succeed. 

Q. And these 11 people or so cu m u l a t i v e l y own what, 

about 3/4 of 1 percent of the w e l l u n i t ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, s i r , t h i s i s Lea County, New Mexico. You 

know, we've got — I t h i n k I i n d i c a t e d t o you, we've got 3 0 

o i l and gas leases i n t h i s 40-acre u n i t , and we've got a 

qua r t e r i n t e r e s t , w e l l over a quarter — a l i t t l e b i t over 

a q u a r t e r i n t e r e s t t h a t we haven't g o t t e n , so we've got 30 

leases covering roughly 3 0 acres, and some of them are 

t h r e e - or f o u r - or f i v e - a c r e i n t e r e s t s . So you can t e l l 

from t h i s l i s t . I mean, we've got r e l a t i v e l y minor 

i n t e r e s t s here. 

Q. Okay. I n your op i n i o n , has Leonard Resource and 

i t s agents made a good f a i t h e f f o r t t o determine the 

whereabouts of these p a r t i e s who are deemed unlocatable? 

A. Yes, s i r , we have. 

Q. Now l e t ' s move on t o the Coates Energy T r u s t , and 

correspondence w i t h Coates Trust i s marked E x h i b i t 3B, i s 

i t not, Mr. Leonard? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

MR. BRUCE: Why don't you go down — Let me see. 

Say the f i f t h — Mr. Examiner, the f i f t h page from the top 

of E x h i b i t — I s i t the f i f t h page? Maybe down a l i t t l e 

b i t f u r t h e r . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

12 

EXAMINER BROOKS: F i f t h page appears t o be — 

MR. BRUCE: Go below the — Go below the f i r s t 

o i l and gas lease, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay. Facsimile t r a n s m i s s i o n 

cover sheet? 

MR. BRUCE: No — 

THE WITNESS: No, s i r , i t ' s — 

MR. BRUCE: — there are two leases, Mr. 

Examiner, but the f i r s t lease form, which i s about t h r e e 

pages long, l e g a l - s i z e d — okay, t o a l e t t e r dated January 

19th, 2000. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Yes, s i r . 

MR. BRUCE: Okay, as long as we've found t h a t . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Mr. Leonard, t h i s January 19th, 

2 000, l e t t e r i s from Glen Farmer. What was h i s 

r e l a t i o n s h i p t o Leonard Resource? 

A. Glen Farmer i s a c o n t r a c t landman i n Midland t h a t 

has done q u i t e a b i t of work f o r us over the l a s t s i x or 

seven years, h e l p i n g us t o assume the lease u n i t s we're 

d r i l l i n g . 

Q. Okay, and he was the one who i n i t i a l l y c o n t r a c t e d 

Coates Energy Tr u s t ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, he was. 

Q. And i f you could, maybe using h i s l e t t e r as a 

g u i d e l i n e , discuss when the contact was f i r s t made w i t h 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Coates Energy Trust and go through t h a t , Mr. Farmer's 

contact w i t h Coates Trust up u n t i l the date of t h i s l e t t e r . 

MR. GALLEGOS: I ob j e c t t o the hearsay. His 

l e t t e r i s hearsay, and we're going t o have hearsay on 

hearsay as t o what went on. 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Mr. Leonard, were you f a m i l i a r 

w i t h and d i d you supervise the n e g o t i a t i o n s over these 

lease terms? 

A. Oh, every b i t of i t . Mr. Farmer o f f i c e s i n the 

same o f f i c e t h a t I do, and he would make contact and then 

b r i n g the response up t o me and we'd t a l k about i t and t a l k 

about i t and t a l k about where t o go from here. 

Q. Okay, so despite Mr. Farmer's l e t t e r , can you 

discuss when the f i r s t contact was made w i t h Coates Energy 

Tr u s t and what happened since then. 

MR. GALLEGOS: This i s from h i s own personal 

knowledge? 

MR. BRUCE: From h i s own personal knowledge. 

THE WITNESS: Well, there are a whole host of 

l e t t e r s i n here t o confirm t h i s . The f i r s t l e t t e r t h a t we 

wrote, down a t the very bottom of t h i s E x h i b i t 3B i s a 

l e t t e r dated June 30th, 19- — 

MR. GALLEGOS: Object, t h i s i s not responsive. 

That wasn't the question t o the witness. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Sustained. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Mr. Leonard, j u s t s t a r t w i t h 

June, 1999, and on your own personal knowledge what 

contacts were made w i t h Coates, w i t h o u t even r e f e r r i n g t o 

the l e t t e r s ? 

A. Well, Mr. Farmer made a telephone c a l l , I 

b e l i e v e , a telephone contact w i t h Sherrie Green, and 

fo l l o w e d i t up w i t h a l e t t e r wherein we made her an o f f e r 

t o lease the undivided quarter i n t e r e s t . And t h e r e are 

m u l t i p l e o f f e r s and c o u n t e r o f f e r s t h a t were made over the 

next s i x months, and wit h o u t r e f e r r i n g t o the 

correspondence or Mr. Farmer's summary, I may have a l i t t l e 

b i t of d i f f i c u l t y remembering e x a c t l y the — 

Q. Each and every one of them. 

A. — the p o i n t and the counterpoint f o r i t , but — 

Q. But the n e g o t i a t i o n s d i d s t a r t i n June of 1999? 

A. Yes, and they continued through the summer. And 

i n August, I b e l i e v e , we were s t i l l c o u ntering w i t h — and 

d e a l i n g w i t h lease bonus, term of the lease and r o y a l t y 

issues and s p e c i f i c p r o v i s i o n s t h a t we f e e l are t e r r i b l y 

important t o the e f f o r t t h a t we're making down t h e r e w i t h 

continuous development and earning r i g h t s t o t o t a l depth 

d r i l l e d . 

Those terms were s p e l l e d out i n each of the 

responses or the c o u n t e r o f f e r s t h a t we proposed t o Coates, 

and we were — the n e g o t i a t i o n s were $200 t o $250 an acre, 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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q u a r t e r r o y a l t i e s . I n i t i a l l y Coates' i n t e r e s t was i n the 

3 0-percent r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t , I b e l i e v e , which g r e a t l y 

exceeds the norm i n Lea County. Quarter r o y a l t i e s are the 

— t y p i c a l l y the toughest trade t h a t we make. 

Q. Okay — 

A. $200, $250 an acre i s i n the area of the high e s t 

p r i c e s t h a t we've paid f o r leases, and we've been i n t h i s 

area f o r t e n t o twelve years. We've put 24 u n i t s t o g e t h e r 

and s u c c e s s f u l l y d r i l l e d and completed w e l l s on them. We 

administer something i n the neighborhood of 3 60 leases i n 

t h i s immediate v i c i n i t y , and we've been a t t h i s — When I'm 

t a l k i n g about the norm of the terms, we come w i t h some 

background w i t h t h a t because we've --

MR. GALLEGOS: Mr. Examiner, t h i s i s — 

THE WITNESS: — done q u i t e a b i t of i t — 

MR. GALLEGOS: — f a r from responsive. We've 

go t t e n way o f f the t r a c k here. 

MR. BRUCE: Well, I don't — I disagree. He's 

disc u s s i n g p a r t of the motion t o dismiss h i s good f a i t h 

n e g o t i a t i o n s , and Mr. Leonard i s discussing good f a i t h 

n e g o t i a t i o n s . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Well, you know — 

MR. GALLEGOS: Well — 

EXAMINER BROOKS: — excuse me, I've s a i d t h i s 

many times i n my l i f e but not a t the OCD, we need t o 
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proceed by question and answer i n the matters p r o p e r l y 

brought t o the court's a t t e n t i o n . 

MR. BRUCE: Well — 

EXAMINER BROOKS: You may proceed. 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) — but s t a r t i n g — Mr. Leonard, 

you proceeded i n n e g o t i a t i o n s i n June of 1999. Didn't 

n e g o t i a t i o n s both by l e t t e r and telephone c a l l proceed on a 

monthly basis through December of 1999? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And d i d Coates — And the r e were numerous l e t t e r s 

and phone c a l l s ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And then i n January of 2 000, d i d Coates and 

Leonard agree on some c e r t a i n lease p r o v i s i o n s , r o y a l t y and 

other? 

A. On the — We had an agreement t h a t we reached i n 

l a t e December — w e l l , from December through the 15th of 

January, and I'm not sure e x a c t l y of the date but I t h i n k 

our l e t t e r — the l a s t l e t t e r t h a t we d i d was l i k e December 

1 of 1999 where we proposed a $250-per-acre bonus 

c o n s i d e r a t i o n , a 25-percent r o y a l t y t h a t would increase t o 

27-1/2 percent a f t e r payout, two-year term, 180-day 

continuous development r i g h t s , earn r i g h t s down t o , I 

t h i n k , the base of the Abo or roughly 79 00 f e e t . 

And my understanding i s t h a t we reached — Well, 
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l e t me say t h a t each of the e f f o r t s t h a t we made i n t h i s 

n e g o t i a t i o n process, t h i s r a t h e r lengthy process over a 

six-month p e r i o d , we — Mr. Farmer repeatedly asked f o r a 

copy of the o i l and gas lease so t h a t we could take a look 

a t i t and in c l u d e t h a t i n the n e g o t i a t i o n process. 

Q. Did Coates ever provide you w i t h a lease form 

before mid-January of 2 000? 

A. No, s i r . 

Q. Okay. 

A. They d i d not. 

Q. Now, when you reached c e r t a i n lease terms — and 

t h a t was by, I b e l i e v e , a l e t t e r from Ms. Green t o you 

dated January 13, 2000, a c t u a l l y t o Mr. Farmer? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. And then I b e l i e v e the day a f t e r t h a t she 

mailed a lease form t o Mr. Farmer? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And was t h a t lease form provided t o you? 

A. Yes, he brought i t up t o me immediately. 

Q. Was t h a t lease form acceptable t o Leonard 

Resource? 

A. No, not a t a l l . I t was a 19-page lease form t h a t 

i s c h o c k - f u l l of a d m i n i s t r a t i v e — I t ' s a very burdensome 

lease form f o r a small independent o u t f i t l i k e ours t o 

administer. I t was not — 
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Q. Let's go down some of i t . That lease form i s 

attached, i s i t not, t o t h i s correspondence — 

A. I t i s . 

Q. — the second lease form i n t h i s f i l e ? 

A. Yes, s i r . I t ' s got a number of blanks on i t f o r 

your i d e n t i f i c a t i o n t h a t were not — t h a t haven't been 

f i l l e d i n on the f i r s t page of i t . 

Q. Okay. Now, i t ' s 19 pages and you mentioned a 

number of lease terms, but l e t ' s keep i t s h o r t . What — 

Could you p i c k out two or t h r e e p r o v i s i o n s of t h i s lease 

form t h a t were not acceptable — 

A. Well — 

Q. — t o Leonard Resource? 

A. Yes, s i r . Commencing on page 1 there's a r o y a l t y 

p r o v i s i o n t h a t i s — one and a h a l f , two and a h a l f , t h r e e 

and a h a l f , f o u r and a h a l f , f i v e pages long. 

Q. Do you have a lease r o y a l t y p r o v i s i o n l i k e t h i s 

i n any of the 300-plus leases you are a d m i n i s t e r i n g i n Lea 

County? 

A. No. 

Q. Go ahead. 

A. This — Well, I don't want t o go i n t o more d e t a i l 

than we have time t o do here, but the main o b j e c t i v e — the 

main o b j e c t i o n we had t o t h i s r o y a l t y p r o v i s i o n i s t h a t i t 

p o t e n t i a l l y o b l i g a t e s my partners and I t o pay more f o r the 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

19 

o i l and gas t h a t we s e l l o f f of t h i s lease than we get. 

I t has — I t ' s complex, i t ' s convoluted, i t ' s a 

l i t t l e b i t d i f f i c u l t t o understand, but i t ' s got — On the 

very f i r s t page, 3 ( a ) , i n paragraph 3 ( a ) , k i n d of r i g h t 

i n the middle of t h a t paragraph i t ' s t a l k i n g about the 

p r i c e f o r o i l and i t says, " . . . a t the same p r i c e received 

by Lessee (but i n no event f o r less than the value 

t h e r e o f ) . . . " 

I n paragraph 3 (b) r i g h t below t h a t f o r gas i t 

has the same k i n d of reference t o "...one-fourth of the 

value of the gas (as defined h e r e i n ) . . . " 

I t goes through a p r o t r a c t e d deal on product 

p r i c e s , and then i n paragraph 3 (g) i t attempts t o d e f i n e 

value, and i t says, The "value" of o i l and gas, condensate 

and other products f o r gas i s , s k i p p i n g down t o the t h i r d 

l i n e , i s the market value " . . . a t the time and place a t 

which custody and r i s k of loss of the hydrocarbons are 

t r a n s f e r r e d t o an u n a f f i l i a t e d purchaser..." 

I f the market value of t h a t or the value of t h a t 

i s the value t h a t we receive, we don't have any problem 

w i t h understanding i t or a d m i n i s t e r i n g i t or paying i t . We 

administer a mess of leases w i t h r o y a l t y p r o v i s i o n s t h a t 

are more complex than we would l i k e f o r them t o be, but 

none of them i s i t d i f f i c u l t f o r us t o f i g u r e out what 

we're supposed t o pay. 
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And t h i s — I've had t h i s p r o v i s i o n i n f r o n t of 

my t i t l e a t t o r n e y , and he can't d e f i n e i t . Market value i n 

h i s o p i n i o n i s — 

MR. GALLEGOS: Well, I o b j e c t — 

THE WITNESS: — very d i f f i c u l t — 

MR. GALLEGOS: — I ob j e c t — 

THE WITNESS: — t o abide — 

MR. GALLEGOS: — t o the hearsay 

THE WITNESS: — t o defi n e here — 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay, I ' l l s u s t a i n the 

o b j e c t i o n . 

THE WITNESS: Then i f you go t o p r o v i s i o n 3 ( h ) , 

which i s about midway down the page on paragraph 3, i t 

s t a r t s out w i t h , "Notwithstanding any p r o v i s i o n of t h i s 

lease t o the c o n t r a r y . . . " and i t gets i n t o d e f i n i t i o n s of 

— I presume, t i e d t o the market value, which i s — i t ' s 

got market p o o l i n g p o i n t s and the Houston Ship Channel and 

the Henry Hub, and i t r e q u i r e s us t o , i n essence t r a c k a 

p e r i o d i c a l f o r o i l , which i s P i a t t ' s Oilqram P r i c e Report, 

a p e r i o d i c a l f o r gas c a l l e d I n s i d e F.E.R.C. Gas Marketing 

Report. and an OPIS i n 3 (k) on the next page f o r gas 

products, t h a t ' s another service t h a t we would need t o 

t r a c k , c a l l e d O i l P r i c e I n f o r m a t i o n Service or OPIS. 

These would be tracked monthly, and monthly we 

would be i n a p o s i t i o n of paying p r i c e s t h a t are t i e d t o 
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these p a r t i c u l a r p e r i o d i c a l s . 

Well, there are four people i n my o f f i c e . Two of 

them are a d m i n i s t r a t i v e a s s i s t a n t s , and we don't have a way 

t o administer something l i k e t h i s . This would r e q u i r e us 

t o h i r e somebody t o do nothing but administer the terms of 

t h i s r o y a l t y p r o v i s i o n . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Would t h a t be uneconomic t o 

Leonard Resource? 

A. Oh, a b s o l u t e l y . The manner t h a t we s e l l o i l and 

gas, we — I mean, we p a r t i c i p a t e w i t h some other people 

t h a t d r i l l and produce i n t h i s same area, and we t r a c k the 

p r i c e s t h a t we do, we c o n t r a c t f o r o i l — You know, t h i s 

i s n ' t l a r g e sums of o i l and gas, l a r g e volumes of o i l and 

gas. These are r e l a t i v e l y small w e l l s . S e l l i n g the o i l 

and gas, we don't have beating down our doors t o do i t , but 

we do a very r e p r e s e n t a t i v e j o b , I t h i n k , of marketing o i l 

and gas. We b i d the o i l out every s i x months, and 

c o n s i s t e n t l y we are among — w i t h the people who we 

p a r t i c i p a t e w i t h , we are very competitive i f not c o n s t a n t l y 

above what they do. 

Q. Okay. 

A. So I t h i n k we do a decent j o b of doing i t . Gas, 

we're under c o n t r a c t s t h a t are longer term than s i x months, 

and t r y i n g t o administer something where you have t o a d j u s t 

an o i l and gas p r i c e every month according t o the high e s t 
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p r i c e of these d i f f e r e n t p e r i o d i c a l s i s j u s t a — I t ' s a 

burden we can't accept. We can't accept the r i s k of not 

doing i t c o r r e c t l y . 

Q. Now, Mr. Leonard, you've gone over some of the 

r o y a l t y . Just b r i e f l y , what are a couple of the other 

clauses t h a t you do not — t h a t you cannot accept i n t h i s 

lease form? 

A. Well, one of the t h i n g s t h a t Mr. Farmer 

c o n s i s t e n t l y asked Coates f o r over the l i f e of t h i s 

n e g o t i a t i o n t h a t we d i d was f o r a 180-day continuous 

development. 

Q. Was the l a s t o f f e r from Leonard Resource t o 

Coates on December 19th, d i d t h a t c o n t a i n a 180-day 

continuous d r i l l i n g o b l i g a t i o n ? 

A. Yes, i t d i d . 

Q. Now, when the l e t t e r was received from Coates 

Energy Trust i n January, d i d i t say anything about a 

continuous d r i l l i n g o b l i g a t i o n ? 

A. No. 

Q. What d i d the proposed lease form contain? 

A. Well, the lease has a 90-day continuous 

development. 

Q. And what i s o b j e c t i o n a b l e t o you about t h a t ? 

A. Well, the 90 days i s o b j e c t i o n a b l e because i t ' s 

not enough time. We asked f o r 180 f o r s p e c i f i c reasons, 
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and the 90 days cut t h a t i n h a l f . But i f you look a t the 

— i f you look a t t h i s 90-day continuous development i n 

d e t a i l , i t r e a l l y i s about h a l f of a 90-day deal because of 

the d e f i n i t i o n of commencement. I t ' s 90 days from 

completion of one w e l l t o commencement of another w e l l . 

And i f you look a t the d e f i n i t i o n s of 

commencement and completion, the way I read, commencement 

i s — when you put the b i t i n the ground and you s t a r t 

t u r n i n g t o the r i g h t on a w e l l t h a t you i n t e n d t o d r i l l t o 

t o t a l depth, t h a t ' s very reasonable. 

The completion p a r t of i t i s what I have a 

problem w i t h . The completion p a r t i s i n 5 — w e l l , i t ' s i n 

p r o v i s i o n 5 under the continuous development. Let me see 

i f I can f i n d where i t i s . 

Q. Without going i n t o too much d e t a i l , what i s — 

A. This i s — l e t me — I've found i t , i t ' s i n 5 (h) 

on the bottom of page 8. I t defines completion, i t ' s — 

the f i r s t p a r t of i t , which i s the l i t t l e Roman numeral 

( i ) , says completion s h a l l be — i n the event a completion 

i s not going t o — an attempt i s not going t o be made, i t ' s 

"three days a f t e r the w e l l reaches" TD. I n the event a 

completion i s going t o be attempted, Roman numeral ( i i ) 

t h e r e says " t h i r t y days a f t e r the date p r o d u c t i o n casing i s 

cemented i n the w e l l . . . " 

Well, we've d r i l l e d and completed a number of 
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these w e l l s , and w i t h the cu r r e n t d i f f i c u l t y t h a t you have 

of g e t t i n g a d r i l l i n g r i g o f f the l o c a t i o n and then g e t t i n g 

i n l i n e f o r a po o l i n g u n i t t o complete these w e l l s , and the 

way these completions of ours go, we're probably two weeks 

from the date t h a t the casing i s cemented i n the hole. The 

best-case scenario, two weeks t o having a w e l l t h a t we 

would c a l l completed which i s a c t u a l l y producing. I t ' s not 

t e s t e d a t t h a t p o i n t , but i t ' s capable of producing. 

So you eat 15 days t h e r e , and then you've got a 

— you're l o o k i n g a t the length of time t o l i n e up the 

p u l l i n g u n i t , and t o — a f t e r you get the cement i n the 

hole, and t o complete the w e l l , we're t y p i c a l l y 4 5 days 

t r y i n g t o do t h i s , and we're standing i n l i n e f o r 

completion r i g s c o n s t a n t l y , because i t ' s a very t y p i c a l 

problem i n t h i s business, and — 

Q. So what i s the net e f f e c t of t h i s 90 days? 

A. The net e f f e c t i s , we're cut from 90 days t o 45 

days, p r a c t i c a l l y . And t h a t ' s a 45-day p e r i o d t o 

pro d u c t i o n t e s t a w e l l , make a d e c i s i o n about whether or 

not you want t o o f f s e t t h a t w e l l and what formations you 

want t o go a f t e r and l i n e up a d r i l l i n g r i g , get the 

surface l o c a t i o n b u i l t and move a d r i l l i n g r i g i n . I t ' s 

simply not enough time. I t ' s not the — I t ' s j u s t not 

something we can l i v e w i t h . 

Q. Okay. Now, there are other p r o v i s i o n s i n here 
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t h a t you don't agree — Just p i c k out one more, say the 

o f f s e t w e l l o b l i g a t i o n . 

A. Well, the o f f s e t w e l l o b l i g a t i o n y o u ' l l f i n d on 

paragraph 9 [ s i c ] of t h i s lease, and i t i s a — i t i s an 

unusual p r o v i s i o n , we don't see i t much, we've seen i t a 

couple of times. But t h i s one i s p a r t i c u l a r l y onerous 

because o f , a ) , the length of time t h a t you have — the 

o f f s e t w e l l o b l i g a t i o n b a s i c a l l y , i n the very f i r s t p a r t of 

t h a t i t says f o r the purposes of t h i s p r o v i s i o n — and t h i s 

i s i n paragraph 6 (a) — " i t w i l l be presumed t h a t any w e l l 

producing i n paying q u a n t i t i e s s i t u a t e d 700 f e e t or less 

from any boundary l i n e of t h i s lease i s d r a i n i n g the lands 

covered hereby..." That's the presumption. 

And under t h i s lease you have 60 days from the 

date t h a t w e l l i s completed t o d r i l l an o f f s e t w e l l t o 

p r o t e c t t h i s 40 acres from the purported drainage. That's 

onerous. 

But you have — you have s i t u a t i o n s here where 

you've got — Let me get my thoughts and my notes here 

together a l i t t l e b i t so I can e x p l a i n t h i s t o you, because 

i t ' s a l i t t l e b i t complicated. 

I n t y p i c a l — not t y p i c a l , because the o f f s e t 

w e l l o b l i g a t i o n i s not a t y p i c a l p r o v i s i o n i n an o i l and 

gas lease i n Lea County, New Mexico, but the ones t h a t we 

have, and th e r e are several of them, they provide you w i t h 
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t h r e e a l t e r n a t i v e s : You d r i l l the w e l l . I f you're not 

prepared t o d r i l l , you pay compensatory r o y a l t y . You pay 

compensatory r o y a l t y based on the — whatever the r o y a l t y 

i n the lease t h a t you're n e g o t i a t i n g i s , and based on the 

p r o d u c t i o n t h a t i s p u r p o r t e d l y d r a i n i n g your lease. The 

other o p t i o n t h a t you have i f you're not prepared t o do any 

of those i s re-lease i t . 

W ell, t h i s p r o v i s i o n doesn't doesn't do t h a t . 

This p r o v i s i o n says, you d r i l l i t , you pay the compensatory 

r o y a l t y . I f you're not prepared t o do e i t h e r one of those, 

then Coates has an o p t i o n , the t h i r d o p t i o n . Not me, 

Coates does. Coates has the o p t i o n t o look a t my leasehold 

p o s i t i o n i n t h a t 4 0 acres. I f they l i k e t h a t leasehold 

p o s i t i o n , and I presume i f they l i k e the terms and 

p r o v i s i o n s of the o i l and gas leases t h a t we own and they 

f i n d them acceptable, they have the o p t i o n t o request t h a t 

Leonard Resource make an assignment of not only t h e i r lease 

as t o a l l r i g h t s , but a l l of the other leases t h a t I own i n 

the u n i t as t o a l l r i g h t s . And they w i l l have the o p t i o n , 

then, t o d r i l l i t or not d r i l l i t . 

Q. I s t h a t acceptable? 

A. No, i t ' s not f a i r or acceptable. 

Q. I n s h o r t , you looked a t t h i s lease term, i t 

wasn't acceptable t o you? 

A. The p r o v i s i o n s of t h i s lease? 
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Q. The p r o v i s i o n s of t h i s lease. 

A. No, s i r . 

Q. And what — Were you given a deadline? Was 

Leonard Resource given a deadline t o accept t h i s lease 

form? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And what was t h a t deadline? 

A. May I read t o you from the exact — 

Q. Sure, go ahead. 

A. — language i n the l e t t e r s ? Now, t h i s i s a 

l e t t e r t h a t ' s d i r e c t e d t o Leonard Resource. I t ' s dated — 

wrong lease — wrong l e t t e r . This i s not — i t ' s dated — 

i t ' s d i r e c t e d t o Glenn Farmer, not t o me. I t ' s a two-

paragraph l e t t e r . I t says t h a t we're i n r e c e i p t of your 

fax — 

MR. GALLEGOS: What date i s i t ? 

THE WITNESS: January 14th — 

MR. BRUCE: January 14th. 

THE WITNESS: — 2000. I t says, We are i n 

r e c e i p t of your faxed message of January 14th i n which you 

advised t h a t Leonard Resource agrees t o the f o l l o w i n g basic 

terms set out i n Coates' l e t t e r t o you dated January 13th. 

Accordingly f o r your review, we have enclosed a copy of the 

Coates lease form. Please note t h a t such form w i l l need t o 

be changed t o r e f l e c t the agreed-upon terms, the proper 
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p a r t i e s and the c o r r e c t references t o the State of New 

Mexico and State of Texas where a p p l i c a b l e . I f Leonard 

f i n d s the basic terms of the attached form acceptable, 

please advise by 4:00 p.m. on January 22nd, 2000. 

Now, t h i s i s a lease t h a t we repeatedly asked 

f o r , f o r s i x months. I get t h i s lease on January 14, i t ' s 

a 19-page, very complex o i l and gas lease, and I have a 

week t o accept i t . 

MR. GALLEGOS: Mr. Examiner, I don't t h i n k the 

witness needs t o argue the case. I move t o s t r i k e t he 

answer — 

MR. BRUCE: He i s answering — 

MR. GALLEGOS: — confine himself t o — 

MR. BRUCE: He i s s t a t i n g — 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Excuse me, one a t a time. Mr. 

Gallegos? 

MR. GALLEGOS: I f he would confine h i m s e l f t o 

answering the question, which was — which he has answered. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Response, Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: I t h i n k he's answering the question, 

Mr. Examiner. But I would l i k e — 

EXAMINER BROOKS: I w i l l o v e r r u l e the motion t o 

s t r i k e . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) But simply put, Mr. Leonard, by 

4:00 p.m. on January 22, 2 000, d i d Leonard Resource accept 
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t h i s lease form? 

A. No, we d i d not. 

Q. Okay. Let's move on then. 

A. Well, I t h i n k i t — 

Q. That's okay. 

A. Okay. 

Q. Now, what was your next contact w i t h Coates 

Energy Trust? 

A. June of 2000. 

Q. And i s t h a t l e t t e r about f i v e pages down from the 

top of E x h i b i t 3B? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. And wi t h o u t going i n t o d e t a i l , now, as of 

January 22, 2000, d i d you have a lease agreement or any 

agreement — 

A. Absolutely not. 

Q. — w i t h Coates? 

A. We had a lease form t h a t was — The whole premise 

of our n e g o t i a t i o n s was based upon there being an 

acceptable o i l and gas lease, and — 

Q. And you d i d not have a meeting of the minds 

regar d i n g an o i l and gas lease? 

A. No, we d i d not. 

Q. With your June 2 6th l e t t e r , d i d you send a 

proposed lease form t o Coates? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

30_ 

A. I d i d . 

Q. I s t h i s lease form one t h a t Leonard has used i n 

the recent past and t h a t has been signed by le s s o r s or 

minera l i n t e r e s t owners i n Lea County? 

A. Yes, s i r , i t ' s a Producer's 88 Revised 1981 New 

Mexico Form 342P Paid-Up O i l and Gas Lease. I t ' s one t h a t 

we use — Well, we've used i t several — 250, 300 times. 

Q. Okay. Coates d i d not agree t o t h a t lease form? 

A. No, they d i d n ' t . 

Q. And they w r i t e back t o you i n J u l y of 2 000? 

A. They d i d . 

Q. And t h a t l e t t e r i s immediately above your June 

l e t t e r , i s i t not? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And they d i d not agree t o t h a t lease form, and so 

at t h a t p o i n t you also had no lease agreement? 

A. No, s i r . 

Q. Then the f i n a l l e t t e r i s on top. On J u l y 27th, 

d i d you w r i t e and propose the subject w e l l t o Coates Energy 

Trust? 

A. Yes, s i r . When we succeeded i n g e t t i n g the r e s t 

of these u n i t s together and we got t h i s w e l l scheduled i n 

our d r i l l i n g program, then I — as I i n d i c a t e d , I went t o 

her i n my l e t t e r the previous year, when we got ready t o 

d r i l l I would submit a w e l l proposal l e t t e r and AFE t o her 
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and encouraged Coates t o p a r t i c i p a t e w i t h t h e i r q u a r t e r 

i n t e r e s t i n d r i l l i n g the w e l l . 

Q. Okay. And were the l e t t e r s sent out by Mr. 

Farmer done — performed — prepared and sent out under 

your s u p e r v i s i o n and c o n t r o l ? 

A. Oh, yes, s i r . 

Q. I n your o p i n i o n , have you made a good f a i t h 

e f f o r t t o o b t a i n the v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r of the Coates Energy 

Trust i n the proposed well? 

A. Yes, I b e l i e v e we have. 

Q. What i s E x h i b i t 4, Mr. Leonard? 

A. E x h i b i t 4. I don't t h i n k I have i t i n here. 

Q. Would you i d e n t i f y t h a t and discuss the cost of 

the proposal? 

A. E x h i b i t 4 i s an a u t h o r i t y f o r expenditure 

prepared by Capataz Operating, Inc. I t ' s f o r a 7800-foot 

w e l l , the White Owl Number 1, t o be l o c a t e d i n the 

southeast of the northwest of Section 2, t h i s 40-acre t r a c t 

i n question. 

Very s i m i l a r t o the other AFE. This — The 

dryhole cost i n the l e f t - h a n d column here i s $369,226, the 

completed w e l l cost i n the f a r r i g h t - h a n d column of the 

a u t h o r i t y f o r expenditure i s $728,024. This was prepared 

and signed by Capataz on J u l y 2 6th of t h i s year. 

Q. And i s t h i s cost i n l i n e w i t h the cost of other 
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w e l l s d r i l l e d t o t h i s depth i n t h i s area of Lea County? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And do you have a recommendation f o r the amounts 

which Leonard Resource should be paid f o r s u p e r v i s i o n and 

a d m i n i s t r a t i v e expenses? 

A. Well, those w i l l go t o Capataz, and I do. $4500 

a month f o r d r i l l i n g w e l l cost and $450 a month f o r 

producing w e l l , operating overhead. 

Q. And again, are these i n l i n e w i t h the amounts 

normally charged by operators of the w e l l s of t h i s depth? 

A. Yes, they are. 

Q. Do you request t h a t these r a t e s be adjusted 

p e r i o d i c a l l y according t o the COPAS accounting procedure? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. And where the i n t e r e s t owners whom you could 

l o c a t e n o t i f i e d of t h i s hearing i n w r i t i n g ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And i s E x h i b i t 5 my a f f i d a v i t of notice? 

A. I t i s your a f f i d a v i t . 

MR. BRUCE: And again, Mr. Examiner, E x h i b i t 6 i s 

simply an a f f i d a v i t of p u b l i c a t i o n of the Hobbs newspaper 

regarding the unlocated i n t e r e s t owners. 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Mr. Leonard, were E x h i b i t s 1 

through 6 prepared by your or under your s u p e r v i s i o n or 

compiled from company business records? 
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A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And i s the g r a n t i n g of t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n i n the 

i n t e r e s t s of conservation and the preven t i o n of waste? 

A. I b e l i e v e i t i s . 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d move the admission 

of E x h i b i t s 1 through 6. 

MR. GALLEGOS: We o b j e c t t o E x h i b i t Number 2 and 

move t o s t r i k e a l l testimony concerning t h a t e x h i b i t . I t ' s 

c l e a r l y hearsay upon hearsay. I t i s e v i d e n t l y t he — an 

attempt t o r e f l e c t the e f f o r t s of some other p a r t y , a Mr. 

Votaw, and the spreadsheet prepared by him, and none of 

t h i s i s i n f o r m a t i o n or f a c t s t h a t were i n the personal 

knowledge of Mr. Leonard or t h a t he's q u a l i f i e d t o t e s t i f y 

t o . 

MR. BRUCE: He's t e s t i f i e d t h a t they were done 

under h i s s u p e r v i s i o n and c o n t r o l , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay, you may continue. 

MR. GALLEGOS: And a l l the testimony concerning 

what somebody else d i d and contacts they supposedly made 

and conversations they had w i t h t h i r d p a r t i e s i s a b s o l u t e l y 

rank hearsay. I n f a c t , i t i s double hearsay. 

We have no o b j e c t i o n t o the other e x h i b i t s , 

except we do have o b j e c t i o n t o E x h i b i t 3B. We reserve 

concerning the l a s t document, t h i s purported J u l y 2 7 t h , 

2 001, l e t t e r , Mr. Examiner — 
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EXAMINER BROOKS: Which one i s t h a t ? 

MR. GALLEGOS: I t ' s on the very top of E x h i b i t 

3B. I t 1 s a l e t t e r t h a t ' s never been received by Coates 

Energy, and I don't know t h a t we have anything t o e s t a b l i s h 

the a u t h e n t i c i t y of i t . 

So E x h i b i t 3B i s not otherwise o b j e c t i o n a b l e , but 

i t i s as t o i n c l u s i o n of a purported l e t t e r of J u l y 27, 

2 001, t o Coates Energy. 

We don't o b j e c t t o the other e x h i b i t s . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay, w e ' l l o v e r r u l e the 

o b j e c t i o n t o E x h i b i t 2, and as t o E x h i b i t 3B, Mr. Bruce, 

I'm not sure t h a t I followed the testimony t h a t c l o s e l y . 

Did the witness t e s t i f y t h a t t h a t l e t t e r was mailed t o 

Coates Energy, the J u l y — 

MR. BRUCE: Yes, he t e s t i f i e d t h a t t h a t l e t t e r 

was mailed t o Coates Energy. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay. 

MR. BRUCE: I f he wants t o a f f i r m i t a t t h i s 

time, Mr. Leonard, was t h a t l e t t e r mailed t o Coates Energy 

Trust? 

THE WITNESS: Absolutely. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: We're speaking of the l e t t e r of 

J u l y 27, 2001 — 

MR. BRUCE: Yes, s i r . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: — t h a t appears as pages 1 and 
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2 of E x h i b i t 3B? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, s i r . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Very good. 

THE WITNESS: We never received i t back. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: With t h a t r e p r e s e n t a t i o n I w i l l 

o v e r r u l e the o b j e c t i o n , and Mr. Gallegos i s f r e e t o o f f e r 

testimony t o rebut the presumption of i t s r e c e i p t i f he 

chooses t o do so. 

I b e l i e v e I've r u l e d on a l l the o b j e c t i o n s , have 

I not? 

MR. GALLEGOS: Yes, s i r . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay, do you pass the witness, 

Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: I pass the witness. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Very good. 

MR. GALLEGOS: I'm going t o place on the witness 

stand our E x h i b i t s 14, 15 and 16, which I t h i n k are 

included i n t h e i r E x h i b i t 3B, but i t might be a l i t t l e 

e a s ier t o r e f e r t o them, instead of having t o put them 

through — 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay — 

MR. BRUCE: Could I get copies of the e x h i b i t s , 

Mr. Gallegos? 

MR. GALLEGOS: Oh, I'm so r r y , sure. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Excuse me, I r u l e d on the 
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o b j e c t i o n s , but I'm not sure t h a t I admitted the e x h i b i t s . 

A p p l i c a n t ' s E x h i b i t s 1, 2, 3A, 3B, 4, 5 and 6 are admitted. 

You may proceed, Mr. Gallegos. 

MR. GALLEGOS: Thank you. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. GALLEGOS: 

Q. Mr. Leonard, what i s Capataz Operating? 

A. I t ' s an independent involved i n o i l and gas 

operations. Capataz operates p r a c t i c a l l y e v e r y t h i n g t h a t 

we're i n v o l v e d i n p u t t i n g together. We have a r e l a t i o n s h i p 

where we do the land and the l e g a l — maintain the leases, 

administer the lease f i l e s , and they do the a c t u a l p h y s i c a l 

operations of the w e l l s . 

Q. Well, who owns the stock? I assume i t ' s a 

c o r p o r a t i o n . 

A. This f e l l o w r i g h t here, Mr. Davis. 

Q. What i s h i s f u l l name? 

A. H. Scott Davis. 

Q. I s 100-percent owner of Capataz Operating? 

A. He w i l l need t o address t h a t , I can't — 

Q. Does Leonard Resources Investment Corporation 

have any ownership i n t e r e s t i n — 

A. No, s i r , and he has no ownership i n Leonard 

Resource. 

Q. And does Capataz Operating have any i n t e r e s t i n 
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the leasehold on t h i s acreage t h a t you p u r p o r t t o have him 

act as operator? 

A. No, s i r . 

Q. No i n t e r e s t whatsoever? 

A. No, s i r . The operating agreement w i l l r e f l e c t 

t h a t they have no i n t e r e s t . 

Q. I t h i n k you've described — I thought you 

described e a r l i e r Capataz Operating as a c o l l e c t i o n of 

independents, i n your --

A. No. 

Q. — testimony i n the p r i o r case? 

A. I f I said t h a t , I d i d n ' t communicate i t c l e a r l y . 

But t h i s group t h a t i s operating i n t h i s area and has 

d r i l l e d and completed these numbers of w e l l s i s a 

c o l l e c t i o n of independents. John W o r r a l l does our geology, 

Scott does our operating, and I do the land f u n c t i o n , and 

then we've got other partners who are not a c t u a l l y i n v o l v e d 

i n the day-to-day operations. 

Q. And where i s Capataz Operating t o be l o c a t e d , t o 

be found — 

A. I n the Wilco B u i l d - — 

Q. — i f i t i s a r o y a l t y owner and has an i n t e r e s t 

i n what's going on on the acreage? 

A. The — Capataz i s located i n the Wilco B u i l d i n g 

i n Midland, j u s t on the 18th f l o o d . I don't know the s u i t e 
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number, but... 

Q. Who markets the production from the w e l l s t h a t I 

guess Leonard Resources has an i n t e r e s t i n but Capataz 

Operating operates? 

A. Capataz does the marketing of the o i l and gas. 

Q. So what i s the r e l a t i o n s h i p , then, as f a r as how 

Leonard Resources receives the revenues from t h a t 

marketing? 

A. Leonard Resource doesn't a c t u a l l y r e c e i v e any 

revenues from the marketing, because Leonard Resource i s n ' t 

-- once we put a u n i t together and we e s t a b l i s h p r o d u c t i o n 

on t h a t u n i t — We've been i n t h i s area a long time, and we 

have a bunch of i n t e r n a l p a r t n e r s . And what we do i s , we 

submit — when we get a w e l l proposal, we submit a w e l l 

proposal t o them and an AFE. Some- — Most of the time, 

most of them p a r t i c i p a t e . Sometimes people don't 

p a r t i c i p a t e f o r one reason or another. We determine what 

the ownership i s . I have a company named JTD Resources 

t h a t a c t u a l l y owns the i n t e r e s t i n these w e l l s . I own 

i n t e r e s t — 

Q. JTD Resources? 

A. JTD Resources, t h a t ' s a l i m i t e d l i a b i l i t y 

company, a Texas l i m i t e d l i a b i l i t y company. 

Q. Did you say a c t u a l l y owns some of the i n t e r e s t i n 

the wells? 
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A. Yes, s i r . And I own i n t e r e s t i n d i v i d u a l l y . We 

have a number of partners t h a t do t h a t , and as we — when 

we submit the proposal t o them and we understand what the 

ownership i s going t o be, then we've got an o p e r a t i n g 

agreement t h a t governs t h i s whole area, and I prepare an 

amendment t o t h a t operating agreement f o r t h a t p a r t i c u l a r 

u n i t r e f l e c t i n g the ownership and c i r c u l a t e t h a t t o 

everybody f o r t h e i r f i l e s , so t h a t everybody knows what 

they own. 

Q. Well, w a i t a minute, l e t ' s see. So i f I 

understand i t , you s o r t of broker a d r i l l i n g and you put i t 

t o g e t h e r , and then you l a y i t o f f on various i n v e s t o r s ? I s 

t h a t about what i t amounts to? 

A. We have a host of i n v e s t o r s t h a t are b u i l t i n t o 

t h i s p r o j e c t and have been f o r t e n years, and they 

p a r t i c i p a t e i n the w e l l s . 

Q. A f t e r the w e l l i s d r i l l e d or before the — 

A. No, before the w e l l i s d r i l l e d , we g i v e them a 

w e l l proposal and an AFE and an e l e c t i o n t o p a r t i c i p a t e , 

and they execute the e l e c t i o n t o p a r t i c i p a t e , e i t h e r they 

w i l l or they won't, and they sign the AFE and they prepay 

the cost of the w e l l s , and we go from t h e r e . 

Q. And so every — each of these i n v e s t o r s i s a 

working i n t e r e s t owner, then? 

A. Yes, s i r . 
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Q. And — 

A. And they receive t h e i r revenues d i r e c t l y . 

Q. And every working i n t e r e s t owner under a lease 

has an o b l i g a t i o n t o pay h i s or her or i t s own r o y a l t y ; 

i s n ' t t h a t true? Do you understand t h a t ' s the way — 

A. I'm not sure I'm f o l l o w i n g what you s a i d . 

Q. — leaseholds work? 

A. The leases are — 

Q. I f one i s a working i n t e r e s t i n a lease, and 

ther e i s production, t h a t working i n t e r e s t owner has an 

o b l i g a t i o n t o pay the r o y a l t y on whatever o i l and gas i s 

a t t r i b u t a b l e t o h i s i n t e r e s t ? 

A. Well, no, s i r , not i n t h i s program. Leonard 

Resource takes the leases. We e i t h e r do i t through brokers 

l i k e J e f f Votaw or Glen Farmer, or we take the leases i n 

our name, we administer the leases, we make assignments, 

once a w e l l i s d r i l l e d and completed we make assignments t o 

our working i n t e r e s t p a r t n e r s . But the day-to-day 

a d m i n i s t r a t i o n of a l l of the lease p r o v i s i o n s , Leonard 

Resource and Capataz share t h a t . 

Q. Okay, but the l e g a l o b l i g a t i o n i s between a 

lessee and a lessor f o r the payment of r o y a l t i e s , you 

understand t h a t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. What you're saying i s , you have a bunch of 
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lessees, i n other words you s l i c e up the lessee i n t e r e s t 

i n t o v a r ious — 

A. They get undivided — 

Q. — ownerships? 

A. — undivided i n t e r e s t , yes, s i r . 

Q. Right. 

A. Leonard Resource a c t u a l l y ends up being the 

lessee of record, and then we assign undivided i n t e r e s t s i n 

those leases t o our p a r t n e r s . 

Q. And then somebody i s supposed t o take care of 

t h e i r o b l i g a t i o n s — by " t h e i r " I mean these lessees' 

o b l i g a t i o n s — t o r o y a l t y owners? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And t o severance tax — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — o b l i g a t i o n s ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And t h i s i s Capataz or i t ' s Leonard Resources? 

Who does t h a t ? 

A. Well, the severance t a x business i s done by the 

operator and — or the purchasers. 

Q. And what? 

A. Or the purchasers. Severance ta x i s — Capataz 

d i s t r i b u t e s the gas revenues on t h i s , we s e l l the gas t o 

Sid Richardson Hydrocarbons. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

42 

Q. Who does, Capataz? 

A. Yes, we're under a term c o n t r a c t w i t h Sid 

Richardson. They d i s t r i b u t e the revenues t o — they 

d i s t r i b u t e the revenues t o Capataz. Capataz — When we get 

our checks from Capataz, the severance and the — 

Q. Well, excuse me a minute. You say "we", so are 

you a p a r t of Capataz? 

A. No, I'm one of the working i n t e r e s t owners i n the 

pro p e r t y . 

Q. Okay, Capataz s e l l s the gas t o Sid Richardson? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And then how i s settlement made f o r the working 

i n t e r e s t owners, the r o y a l t y owners, o v e r r i d e s , and taxes? 

A. My understanding i s , the purchasers are o b l i g a t e d 

t o pay the production taxes, and the o i l p r o d u c t i o n i s — 

comes d i r e c t from the purchaser, which i s Seminole 

T r a n s p o r t a t i o n . The gas production — 

Q. So — Excuse me. You don't know how the 

settlement i s made on the gas; i s t h a t what you're saying? 

A. No, I'm f i x i n g t o address t h a t . The gas — 

Q. A l l r i g h t , w e l l , l e t ' s — 

A. — the gas i s d i s t r i b u t e d from — by — from Sid 

Richardson t o Capataz, and Capataz then d i s t r i b u t e s t o the 

working i n t e r e s t ownership and the r o y a l t y owners. 

Q. So Capataz i s the one who i s responsible f o r 
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a c c u r a t e l y performing whatever the lease terms are as t o 

the payment of r o y a l t y ? 

A. That's h i s j o b , yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay, does Capataz also market the o i l ? 

A. Well, I've worked w i t h Capataz i n marketing t h a t 

o i l , but yes, he b a s i c a l l y does i t . We b i d t h a t o i l out 

every s i x months, he does, and he's got t h r e e or f o u r 

e n t i t i e s t h a t we b i d i t out t o , and we n e g o t i a t e a 

t y p i c a l l y s i x - t o nine-month c o n t r a c t f o r the sale of the 

o i l . 

Q. Well, who i s the s e l l e r ? On a c o n t r a c t t o s e l l 

where i t says — 

A. The D i v i s i o n orders — 

Q. -- X i s buyer, who i s the s e l l e r ? 

A. The D i v i s i o n orders t h a t we give Seminole, who i s 

the crude o i l purchaser, a l i s t of the working i n t e r e s t and 

r o y a l t y owners' names and addresses. We do t h a t . And they 

submit D i v i s i o n orders t o a l l the p a r t i e s . 

Q. I n c l u d i n g — 

A. And they pay d i r e c t l y , the o i l . 

Q. Seminole does? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And they pay d i r e c t l y t o working i n t e r e s t owners? 

A. And they pay the r o y a l t y . 

Q. And they pay the r o y a l t y ? 
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A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. So i s Seminole provided w i t h copies of a l l your 

leases so they are able t o have and — 

A. They don't — they don't --

Q. — understand your r o y a l t y clauses and your — 

whatever you s a i d , 3 00 leases? 

A. We have a D i v i s i o n order t i t l e o p i n i o n t h a t sets 

f o r t h a l l the terms and p r o v i s i o n s of the leases. Any 

s p e c i a l p r o v i s i o n s such as r o y a l t y p r o v i s i o n s t h a t are 

exc e p t i o n a l p r o v i s i o n s , and a l l t h a t Seminole or Capataz 

requests from us i s a copy of the D i v i s i o n order t i t l e 

o p i n i o n , not the i n d i v i d u a l leases — 

Q. Can you — 

A. — although we would provide them f o r them i f 

they needed them, we j u s t — 

Q. Can you — Excuse me, I'm so r r y . Can you t e l l us 

whether Seminole pays any of the p r i v a t e r o y a l t y owners on 

a d i f f e r e n t basis, or are they a l l paid — one s i z e f i t s 

a l l ? 

A. My understanding, yes, t h a t everybody's p a i d the 

same. When we c o n t r a c t w i t h Seminole, t h a t c o n t r a c t covers 

the gross b a r r e l s produced from the lease. They were a l l 

p a i d on the same p r i c e , nobody receives anything any 

d i f f e r e n t . 

Q. Okay, and so as f a r as compliance w i t h any 
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p r i v a t e r o y a l t y p r o v i s i o n s , i t ' s up t o Seminole? 

A. Well, i f Seminole had a problem w i t h i t , they 

would probably contact me — 

Q. Well — 

A. — and we would work i t out together. But yes, 

they've got the D i v i s i o n order o p i n i o n w i t h t he 

i n s t r u c t i o n s from our t i t l e a t t o r n e y about how t o proceed. 

And i f i t ' s complex enough t o warrant a copy of the o i l and 

gas lease I'm sure they would ask me f o r i t , and I would 

g i v e i t t o them. But we j u s t t y p i c a l l y don't have t h a t , 

don't have i t a l l . They don't request the o i l and gas 

leases. 

Q. Does Capataz charge a marketing fee f o r s e l l i n g 

the gas? 

A. Not a marketing fee. They charge the working 

i n t e r e s t ownership a fee f o r handling the d i s t r i b u t i o n of 

the gas, not the r o y a l t y owners or the working i n t e r e s t . 

Q. What i s t h a t fee? 

A. I t h i n k i t ' s $60 a month, t o o f f s e t t he cost of 

t h a t p a r t i c u l a r accounting. But he's got two — he and a 

lady i n h i s o f f i c e . He's about as huge as I am — 

Q• So --

A. — so he has a charge f o r doing t h a t , t h a t we a l l 

have accepted and pay. 

Q. So t h i s s e l l i n g of gas i s not marketing i n the 
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sense of d a i l y or even weekly marketing of the p r o d u c t i o n , 

c o r r e c t ? 

A. You mean i n s o l i c i t i n g new c o n t r a c t s , weekly or 

monthly? 

Q. Right, I take i t t h a t i t ' s s o l d under term 

contracts? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. For what k i n d of period? 

A. The c o n t r a c t t h a t we entered i n t o — Capataz can 

probably address t h i s b e t t e r than I can, but the c o n t r a c t 

t h a t we've entered i n t o , i t was i n 1998 w i t h Sid 

Richardson, and i t was a replacement c o n t r a c t f o r one t h a t 

we had e a r l i e r , and i t ' s a seven-year c o n t r a c t . 

Q. Seven-year c o n t r a c t — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — f o r the sale of the gas? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And — 

A. That was a deal t h a t we b i d out t o every company 

i n t h e r e t h a t buys from these w e l l s t h a t we produce from, 

and t h a t was f a r and away the most ap p r o p r i a t e and the best 

deal t h a t we could f i n d f o r us and f o r our p a r t n e r s . 

Q. So i n January of 2 001, what d i d the gas s e l l f o r 

from t h i s group of w e l l s , Mr. Leonard? 

A. I would have t o get t h a t i n f o r m a t i o n f o r you, I 
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don't have t h a t r i g h t on the t i p of my tongue. But I would 

guess i t was e i g h t or nine — i t was b i g p r i c e s back i n 

December — November, December and January, which we were 

s t i l l g e t t i n g . 

Q. Oh, so the c o n t r a c t ' s not f o r a f i x e d p r i c e ? 

A. The c o n t r a c t i s f o r — I t ' s a percentage of 

proceeds. I t h i n k i t ' s 88 percent. 

Q. I t ' s one of the — Sid Richardson's c o n t r a c t , 

percentage of proceeds? 

A. Yes, s i r , i t was negotiated f o r us by an 

independent gas c o n t r a c t guy. 

Q. So supposedly you're depending on Sid Richardson 

t o get market value? 

A. Well, we've had Sid Richardson audit e d , we do 

t h a t as a matter of course. And the a u d i t t h a t we had 

performed i n Midland by another independent gas guy found 

a b s o l u t e l y no i m p r o p r i e t y , and t h e i r d e a l i n g went through 

— I don't know how many months he looked a t , t h e i r 

d e a l i n g s , spot checked i t over the span of a year, a year 

and a h a l f . 

I n h i s o p i n i o n , i t ' s one of the best gas 

c o n t r a c t s he has witnessed, and he has no reason t o b e l i e v e 

t h a t Sid Richardson i s not doing e x a c t l y what they s a i d . 

You know, t h i s i s — i t ' s a complicated area, and i t needs 

t o be looked a t by somebody t h a t 1 s got the background t o 
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d i s s e c t the p r o v i s i o n s of the c o n t r a c t and t o make sure 

t h a t i t ' s being handled p r o p e r l y , and t h a t ' s why we had i t 

aud i t e d . 

Q. I n the w e l l s t h a t t h i s group i s developing, do 

you have f e d e r a l leasehold? 

A. One. 

Q. And the r e are some p a r t i c u l a r r e g u l a t i o n s 

concerning c a l c u l a t i o n of r o y a l t i e s under f e d e r a l lease 

r e g u l a t i o n s , are there not? 

A. I b e l i e v e t h a t ' s t r u e . 

Q. Well, who handles tha t ? 

A. Well, t h a t again was handled through the D i v i s i o n 

order t i t l e o p i n ion. That's one of the few 40-acre 

l o c a t i o n s where we have one lease and one miner a l owner, 

and t h a t D i v i s i o n order opini o n was f a i r l y simple, and 

those p r o v i s i o n s are s p e l l e d out i n t h a t D i v i s i o n order 

o p i n i o n and the purchasers have access t o i t . 

Q. And I take i t i n t h i s 40 acres i n Section 2 

t h a t ' s the subject of t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n t h e r e are no 

f e d e r a l — 

A. No, s i r . 

Q. — lease i n t e r e s t s ? They're a l l fee. 

Do you have s t a t e leases — 

A. I do not. 

Q. — your group? 
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A. This area i s t y p i c a l l y — We have the one f e d e r a l 

lease, and then we've got three — b a s i c a l l y t h r e e or f o u r 

s e c t i ons under lease, and we've got one f e d e r a l lease and 

no s t a t e lease. 

Q. Okay. 

A. Well, t h a t ' s not t r u e . I j u s t took a farmout and 

d r i l l e d two w e l l s on a P h i l l i p s Petroleum agreement, and 

t h a t i s a s t a t e lease. We are — We haven't completed the 

f i r s t w e l l y e t on t h a t , but you've got two of them t h a t 

we've d r i l l e d . That's j u s t immediately o f f s e t t i n g you t o 

the south. 

Q. I s t h i s p r o j e c t b a s i c a l l y centered i n Township 20 

South, Range 3 8 East? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And e s s e n t i a l l y w i t h i n about f i v e or s i x sections 

w i t h i n t h a t township? 

A. Yes, s i r , 13, 14, 11 and 2. 

Q. Okay, Section 14 has been h e a v i l y developed, 

hasn't i t ? I mean, you have what, a dozen w e l l s , maybe, i n 

t h a t section? 

A. Yeah, roughly a dozen. One of them we d i d n ' t 

d r i l l . C o l l i n s and Ware d r i l l e d one of them, c a l l e d the 

Diamondback. I t ' s i n the southeast q u a r t e r . But the other 

l o c a t i o n s we've d r i l l e d . There's some open l o c a t i o n s i n 

the west h a l f t h a t are u n d r i l l e d . 
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Q. Okay. As I understand i t , you are w i l l i n g t o 

accept a lease form t h a t was provided by Wells Fargo as 

t r u s t e e , I t h i n k of — was i t the Simmons estate? 

A. Well, we haven't seen i t y e t , but we have leased 

the Simmons est a t e p r e v i o u s l y when Wells Fargo was not the 

t r u s t e e but another bank was. But we have several leases 

i n our p o r t f o l i o t h a t we administer t h a t are Wells Fargo 

Trust leases. And assuming t h a t i t ' s going t o be the same 

lease form — and we don't know t h a t because we haven't 

seen i t y e t — i t would be acceptable t o us. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . So f i r s t of a l l , you don't know 

whether you're going t o have an acceptable lease form from 

Wells Fargo? 

A. I do not. 

Q. Okay. But the lease forms t h a t you've seen 

before from Wells Fargo as t r u s t e e f o r some miner a l 

i n t e r e s t owner have been accepted by — 

A. Yeah, we — 

Q. — from t h a t — 

A. — I t h i n k we adjusted the continuous 

development, they accepted the 18 0-day continuous 

development, and they accepted the depth severance as t o 

100 f e e t below t o t a l depth d r i l l e d i n t h i s l o c a t i o n , and I 

t h i n k those are the two changes t h a t we requested and they 

made. 
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Q. A l l r i g h t . And do you have a copy of those lease 

forms here w i t h you? 

A. No, s i r , I don't have i t w i t h me. 

Q. Let's put i n temporal context, i f we might, your 

n e g o t i a t i o n s w i t h Coates Energy Tru s t , a l l r i g h t ? F i r s t of 

a l l , you t a l k e d about some f a i r l y a c t i v e n e g o t i a t i o n s where 

there's exchange of l e t t e r s almost on a monthly basis over 

a six-month p e r i o d . 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And t h a t was i n the l a t t e r h a l f of 1999 and 

January of 2000; i s n ' t t h a t correct? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. So we're t a l k i n g about roughly two years ago? 

A. (Nods) 

Q. Correct? 

A. (Nods) 

Q. Your answer i s yes — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — f o r the record? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. This A p p l i c a t i o n was not f i l e d u n t i l August, l a t e 

August, of the year 2001; i s n ' t t h a t true? 

A. A p p l i c a t i o n f o r t h i s f o r c e pooling? 

Q. Yes — 

A. Yes, s i r . 
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Q. — t h a t we're hearing here today. 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Well, l e t me take f i r s t of a l l , then 

— c a l l t o your a t t e n t i o n what I've placed on the stand as 

E x h i b i t 14, which i s p a r t of your E x h i b i t 3B, and i t ' s a 

l e t t e r from Sherrie Green a t Coates t o Glen Farmer, dated 

January 14th, 2 000. 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. Now, you're aware t h a t t h i s came about 

because the very day before she had received a fax from Mr. 

Farmer saying t h a t the basic terms t h a t have been 

discussed, such as r o y a l t y , bonus and so f o r t h , were 

acceptable? 

A. Yes, s i r 

Q. A l l r i g h t . So she w r i t e s then and says t h a t 

she's sending you t h i s lease form, c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And she simply says, here are the terms, "please 

advise by 4:00 p.m. on January 22, 2 000, and then Coates 

w i l l prepare a completed lease form f o r f i n a l review." 

There's no ultimatum t h e r e , i s there? 

A. That's the reason, I presume, t h a t date and time 

were i n t h e r e . That's a very unusual way f o r me t o be 

approached on a lease. I've not had t h a t experience before 

and I've been doing t h i s a long time, but I perceive t h a t 
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t h a t ' s what i t was. 

Q. Well, she's j u s t asking f o r an answer, she's j u s t 

asking f o r you t o say, l e t us know whether you f i n d the 

lease terms acceptable? 

A. Well, I t h i n k the i m p l i c a t i o n t h e r e i s t h a t i f 

i t ' s not acceptable by January 22nd a t 4:00 p.m., i t ' s a 

dead deal. 

Q. I t doesn't say t h a t a t a l l , does i t ? 

A. I t does not, no. That's j u s t the — That's the 

i m p l i c a t i o n of i t t o me. That's the way I understood i t . 

That's the way t h a t anybody t h a t ' s looked a t t h i s i n my 

business has understood i t . 

Q. I t ' s simply asking, l e t us know whether i t ' s 

acceptable, and we want t o keep t h i s t h i n g moving along, so 

l e t us know by January 22nd. That's what i t says, i s n ' t 

i t ? 

A. Yes, and you might go ahead and read the l a s t 

sentence i n t h a t l e t t e r . 

Q. I read i t . There's no agreement a t t h i s p o i n t . 

A. Exactly. 

Q. There's no dispute about t h a t , c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . So then there was no answer t h a t 

month or the next month or f o r several months t h a t 

f o l l o w e d , was there? 
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A. No. 

Q. Just a blank, nothing from Leonard Resources i n 

response t o t h i s l e t t e r ? 

A. No. 

Q. Okay. So the next t h i n g t h a t happens i s your 

l e t t e r of June 26th, 2000, some f i v e and a h a l f months 

l a t e r ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. What happened t o Glen Farmer i n the meantime? 

Did you q u i t using h i s services, or what happened? 

A. He went i n t o r e t i r e m e n t . I drug him out of 

r e t i r e m e n t t o begin w i t h , and he went back i n t o i t . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . So t h i s l e t t e r , now, t h a t we're 

l o o k i n g a t would be — would have been w r i t t e n 

approximately 14 months p r i o r t o t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n here t o 

f o r c e pool the Coates Trust? 

A. My June 2 6th l e t t e r ? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. So you were — You were obviously i n no h u r r y 

about d r i l l i n g the w e l l or doing anything between January 

and June of 2000, correct? 

A. Quite the opposite, we were compiling the r e s t of 

the i n t e r e s t s i n t h i s u n i t . Frankly, when I got the lease 

from S h e r r i e , and as complicated as i t was and as 
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unacceptable as i t was t o me, I j u s t t a b l e d i t . We had a 

— Where I'm coming from, we've got t h r e e or f o u r other 

u n i t s we were t r y i n g t o put together f o r d r i l l i n g , we had a 

number of leases t h a t we s t i l l had outstanding i n t h i s 4 0 

acres. My f e e l i n g about i t was, there's a b s o l u t e l y no 

sense i n pursuing t h i s lease form which i s unacceptable a t 

t h i s p o i n t i n time. Let me get the r e s t of t h i s u n i t 

t o g e t h e r , and then w e ' l l see. I f I hadn't g o t t e n the r e s t 

of the u n i t together i t would have been a moot p o i n t . We 

had a whole l o t of other t h i n g s going on besides the 

n e g o t i a t i o n of t h i s one i n t e r e s t . 

Q. S u f f i c e i t t o say t h a t n e i t h e r by the end of 

January of June 26th of 2000, d i d you s p e c i f y t o Coates 

Energy anything p a r t i c u l a r about the lease form t h a t was 

unacceptable, d i d you? 

A. Well i n my June 2 6th l e t t e r I d i d . The t h i r d 

paragraph, I t h i n k I'm f a i r l y s p e c i f i c about i t . 

Q. Okay, t h a t you d i d n ' t l i k e the r o y a l t y clause and 

the 9 0-day — 

A. No, I d i d n ' t — "The trade i n v o l v e s too much 

money and r o y a l t y burden f o r a two-year term w i t h 9 0 day 

continuous development, p a r t i c u l a r l y i n " l i g h t of "a 

s t r a t i g r a p h i c play where every 4 0 acre l o c a t i o n seems t o be 

a w i l d c a t . . . The Coates lease form would r e q u i r e an 

immense amount of a d m i n i s t r a t i o n t o ensure compliance w i t h 
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p r o v i s i o n s such as No. 3, R o y a l t i e s . We are a small 

independent company a d m i n i s t e r i n g a very complex surface 

and m i n e r a l ownership f o r a reasonably aggressive d r i l l i n g 

and development program i n t h i s area, and simply do not 

have the s t a f f necessary t o administer the type of lease 

t h a t you propose." 

Q. I t ' s a f a c t , i s n ' t i t , Mr. Leonard, f i r s t of a l l 

the gas r o y a l t y payment i s administered by Capataz 

D r i l l i n g , or Capataz Operating? 

A. Well, the — 

Q. That's what you t e s t i f i e d — 

A. — the gas r o y a l t i e s — 

Q. — j u s t a few minutes ago? 

A. — the gas r o y a l t i e s are d i s t r i b u t e d by Capataz. 

Q. And the o i l r o y a l t i e s are administered, 

d i s t r i b u t e d , paid by t h i s o i l purchaser t h a t you've 

i d e n t i f i e d as Seminole; i s n ' t t h a t true? 

A. Oh, yes, but c e r t a i n l y w i t h our involvement and 

our assistance i n the event t h a t there's anything s p e c i a l 

t h a t needs t o be addressed, we're the l e s s o r . We don't — 

We're u l t i m a t e l y the responsible p a r t y f o r the whole t h i n g . 

Q. Leonard Resources Investment does not make any 

r o y a l t y settlements, does i t ? 

A. No. 

Q. While we're on the p o i n t , would you show us i n 
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t h i s correspondence you brought forward as E x h i b i t 3B where 

a t any time Mr. Farmer requested t o see the Coates Energy 

Trust lease form? 

A. I t h i n k t h a t what I have f o r Mr. Farmer i s a copy 

of a note, October of 1999, on — i t ' s w r i t t e n on the face 

of Sherrie's October 6th, 1999, l e t t e r . No, i t ' s not. 

What Glen would do i s , he would get a l e t t e r — 

Q. No, what I'm asking you — Just answer the 

question. 

A. I don't see i t i n the l e t t e r , s i r . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Okay. So the r e p r e s e n t a t i o n you made t o the 

Examiner about t h i s repeated asking f o r the lease form was 

based e i t h e r j u s t on your speculation or on some hearsay? 

A. Not on spec u l a t i o n , s i r . I t ' s based on Mr. 

Farmer's representations t o me, and he would have no reason 

t o mislead me about t h a t . He and I deal w i t h each other 

d a i l y on — w h i l e we were doing t h i s r e l a t i o n s h i p . He 

o f f i c e s i n my b u i l d i n g , he's i n my o f f i c e p r a c t i c a l l y every 

day. We go over every lease n e g o t i a t i o n we're i n v o l v e d 

w i t h , and when he would make a note of a conversation he 

had w i t h S h e rrie, he would b r i n g i t out and show i t t o me. 

And i t was i n August of 1999 — I can f i n d i t i n 

my f i l e here — a copy of her l e t t e r w i t h h i s note on i t 
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t h a t s a i d t h a t he had asked her f o r a copy of t h a t lease, 

and he represented t o me t h a t he d i d i t more than once over 

t h a t six-month p e r i o d . 

Q. And there's approximately f i v e l e t t e r s from Mr. 

Farmer exchanged i n t h a t six-month p e r i o d , and not one of 

those l e t t e r s says a word about we need t o see your lease 

form; i s n ' t t h a t true? 

A. Not t h a t I'm aware o f . I t was a l l done v e r b a l l y 

by him. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . So s i x months goes by, and June 26th, 

2 000, you w r i t e your l e t t e r t h a t ' s our E x h i b i t 15, and you 

say now t h a t the basic terms t h a t Mr. Farmer and Ms. Green 

had t a l k e d about and the lease form are unacceptable? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay, and on the second page you say, and I 

quote, " I f those terms i n the form of lease we propose are 

unacceptable, then we w i l l be happy t o submit an AFE f o r 

your c o n s i d e r a t i o n once we are ready t o d r i l l on your 

acreage, so t h a t you may j o i n w i t h your 2 5% i n t e r e s t i n 

d r i l l i n g a proposed t e s t w e l l , " end quote. 

I n other words, you are saying t h i s i s i t , accept 

our terms and our lease form, or we're sending you an AFE? 

A. Well, we had reached k i n d of an impasse here, 

because t h a t ' s the communication t h a t I had from S h e r r i e 

f o r her lease. I t was — Her lease had t o be the base 
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lease, the base form of lease t h a t we would use. 

I explained t o her t h a t t r y i n g t o cut and paste 

her lease form and make i t acceptable t o us was not 

something we could do. My t i t l e a t t o r n e y wouldn't suggest 

t h a t I do t h a t , because i t ' s too complicated. 

Q. Do you e x p l a i n t o her what you say i n t h i s 

l e t t e r , do you — 

A. No. 

Q. — e x p l a i n t o here? 

A. — these were i n telephone conversations. 

Q. When was t h a t telephone conversation, Mr. 

Leonard? 

A. Well, one of them was yesterday. 

Q. I'm not t a l k i n g about yesterday — 

A. Yeah. 

Q. - - I ' m t a l k i n g about concurrent — 

A. I b e l i e v e i t was — 

Q. — w i t h June 2 6th, when you — 

A. — I don't have — 

Q. — were apparently saying accept our terms, or 

we're sending you an AFE. 

A. I t was i n June of 2000 when I wrote t h i s l e t t e r 

and had the communication w i t h her. I t would have t o be, 

because I don't t h i n k I t a l k e d t o her before t h a t . But I 

don't have a note t o t h a t — 
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Q. But you're representing you had a phone 

conversation w i t h her about t h i s time? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. So your l e t t e r i s b a s i c a l l y a t a k e - i t - o r - l e a v e - i t 

l e t t e r , i s n ' t t h a t true? 

A. Well, I d i d n ' t i n t e n d i t as a t a k e - i t - o r - l e a v e - i t 

p r o p o s i t i o n , i t was — Her lease form was c l e a r l y 

unacceptable. I o f f e r e d her an a l t e r n a t i v e one t h a t we've 

used a j i l l i o n times and suggested t h a t she consider t h a t , 

and i f t h a t ' s unpalatable t o her, then maybe what Coates 

should do i s j u s t consider j o i n i n g and p a r t i c i p a t i n g i n the 

w e l l w i t h t h e i r i n t e r e s t . 

Q. Well, l e t ' s look at her response t o your June 

2 6th l e t t e r — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — which i s our E x h i b i t 16. So i n s p i t e of your 

June 2 6th l e t t e r t h a t says, Here's our terms or we send you 

an AFE, on J u l y 17, 2 000, Ms. Green w r i t e s , and she's s t i l l 

a t t e m p t i n g t o work out a mutually acceptable agreement; 

i s n ' t t h a t true? 

A. No, s i r , t h a t ' s not t r u e . There was no mutually 

acceptable p a r t of t h i s e n t e r p r i s e w i t h her ever. 

Q. I s a i d — 

A. I t was accept t h i s lease form — she — matter of 

f a c t , she i n d i c a t e d t o me i n a telephone conversation t h a t 
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of a l l the o i l and gas leases t h a t Coates submits f o r 

people's use, I'm the only guy t h a t ' s ever had a problem 

w i t h i t . I doubt t h a t s e r i o u s l y , but t h a t ' s what she s a i d . 

There was no — never any i n d i c a t i o n on her p a r t 

t h a t t h e r e was a way t o negotiate something other than her 

base lease form, which wasn't acceptable t o me. 

Q. Oh, i n other words, you — t h e r e — no matter 

what reasonable m o d i f i c a t i o n s t h a t Coates would make i n i t s 

lease form, you simply were not going t o work o f f of t h a t 

form; i s t h a t what you're t e l l i n g me? 

A. I wasn't advised t o , s i r . There's a — That's a 

19-page lease w i t h a very t i g h t l y d r a f t e d and — p r o v i s i o n 

a f t e r p r o v i s i o n t i e d t o each other, and i t ' s not something 

my t i t l e lawyer advised me t o t r y and get i n t o changing a 

paragraph here, d e l e t i n g a paragraph t h e r e , adding a 

paragraph here and t r y i n g t o make t h a t lease something we 

could l i v e w i t h . 

I t has — I gave you three instances of t h i n g s 

t h a t we couldn't handle i n t h a t t h i n g , but I can take you 

t o f i v e or s i x or seven more. There are too many of them, 

and we never had any i n d i c a t i o n from t a l k i n g t o Sherr i e 

t h a t Coates would have the k i n d of f l e x i b i l i t y t h a t would 

handle, s t a r t i n g w i t h a blank t a b l e t , s t a r t i n g w i t h a base 

form, New Mexico paid up o i l and gas lease and s t a r t from 

s c r a t c h and see i f we could n e g o t i a t e something f a i r , we 
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never had any i n d i c a t i o n t h a t t h a t would be a do-able deal. 

Her argumentative nature w i t h me was, you're the only guy I 

know t h a t has a problem w i t h t h i s ; what's your problem? 

Q. Okay. Well, you recognize on the second page of 

E x h i b i t 16, which i s her J u l y 17, 2 000, fax t o you, t h a t 

she says, and I quote, "We would l i k e t o recommend t h a t you 

advise what p r o v i s i o n s or lease language Leonard f i n d s 

unacceptable i n the Coates lease form," end quote. Well, 

she goes on t o say, "Coates w i l l take i n t o c o n s i d e r a t i o n 

any requested changes t o i t s lease form which are 

reasonable," end quote. That's what she wrote you, r i g h t ? 

A. That's what she wrote, yes, s i r . 

Q. But you weren't w i l l i n g t o attempt t o suggest any 

changes i n the lease form and allow them an o p p o r t u n i t y t o 

agree t o reasonable m o d i f i c a t i o n s ? 

A. Well, no, she had the same o p p o r t u n i t y when I 

submitted my lease form t o her, and my lease form t o her 

was unacceptable. There was no p o i n t - b y - p o i n t on her p a r t 

when I submitted my lease form t o her t o say, Well, we can 

do t h i s , we can't do t h i s , we need t o add t h i s , we need t o 

add t h a t . I t was j u s t , I t ' s not acceptable. 

There was never — we j u s t d i d n ' t have — I mean, 

I do t h i s every day of the week of my l i f e i n t h i s area of 

n e g o t i a t i n g o i l and gas leases. We've got them w i t h Amoco, 

Apache, Texaco, Fina, P h i l l i p s , and a l l kinds of tough 
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independents. We don't do anything i n my o f f i c e more on a 

d a i l y basis than n e g o t i a t e the terms of o i l and gas leases. 

We simply never had a posture from Sherry t h a t would lead 

us t o b e l i e v e t h a t t h a t would be a p r o f i t a b l e e n t e r p r i s e . 

Q. Are you — Since you're so inv o l v e d i n t h a t , Mr. 

Leonard, then you are c e r t a i n l y aware of the great q u a n t i t y 

of l i t i g a t i o n t h a t ' s going on i n v i r t u a l l y producing s t a t e s 

between r o y a l t y owners and lessees concerning claims of 

underpayment of r o y a l t y , are you not? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay, w e l l , l e t ' s take a few minutes, since your 

lease form i s the one t h a t you i n s i s t has t o be worked o f f 

o f , and l e t ' s look a t E x h i b i t 15 which has your — 

MR. BRUCE: I ' d o b j e c t t o t h a t c h a r a c t e r i z a t i o n . 

Mr. Leonard never said h i s was the form t h a t had t o be 

worked o f f o f . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Well — 

MR. GALLEGOS: Well — 

EXAMINER BROOKS: — the testimony w i l l speak f o r 

i t s e l f . You may continue, Mr. Gallegos. 

MR. GALLEGOS: Thank you, Mr. Examiner. 

Q. (By Mr. Gallegos) You say t h a t t h i s i s a 

Producer's 88 form. What about the i n d i c a t i o n a t the lower 

l e f t - h a n d bottom of each page of t h i s form, I quote, i t 

says, "LRIC-CoatesEnergy" lease, e t cetera? Does t h a t 
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i n d i c a t e t h a t t h e r e i s some production of t h i s form — 

A. Yes, we have — 

Q. — by your o f f i c e — 

A. — we — 

Q. — customizing of i t ? 

A. We have i t i n our computer. 

Q. So i t — 

A. We have the base form i n our computer, and we — 

i t enables us t o add and s u b t r a c t p r o v i s i o n s from a whole 

l o t more r e a d i l y than t r y i n g t o do what we used t o do, mark 

them up w i t h r u l e r s and draw l i n e s and X s t u f f out. 

Q. Okay, so i t ' s customized somewhat from — 

A. Well, the base form, I b e l i e v e , i s verbatim. We 

have added the — u s u a l l y the e x t r a p r o v i s i o n s t h a t we add 

begin w i t h paragraph 12, as i t does i n t h i s lease, where we 

added a continuous development p r o v i s i o n , a Pugh clause and 

a depth severance and a continuous development p r o v i s i o n 

along the l i n e s of o f f e r s t h a t we had made t o her. 180-day 

continuous development, depth severance 100 f e e t below 

t o t a l depth d r i l l e d , a l l of t h a t i s i n paragraph 12, and 

t h a t i s — t o my knowledge, t h a t ' s the only p r o v i s i o n added 

t o t h i s lease form, but we use t h i s lease form a l o t . We 

add 

— as I s a i d , we add and s u b t r a c t from i t , and so we have 

i t i n our computer f o r ease of handling t h a t . 
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Q. Okay. Well, l e t ' s look a t what you propose t o 

Ms. Green, Coates Energy. F i r s t of a l l i n the d e s c r i p t i o n 

t h e r e i s no depth l i m i t a t i o n , i s there? 

A. No, the depth l i m i t a t i o n i s i n paragraph 12, i t ' s 

not i n the d e s c r i p t i o n . I t ' s not i n the d e s c r i p t i o n of 

most of the leases we have. There's a depth severance on 

the very back page of the lease t h a t i s under 12 ( c ) . I t 

says, "At such time as Lessee... f a i l s t o commence... 

continuous development, or...once commenced, f a i l s t o 

continue same, t h i s lease s h a l l terminate as t o a l l land 

not then included i n a p r o r a t i o n u n i t assigned t o a 

well...and s a i d p r o r a t i o n u n i t s h a l l be l i m i t e d i n depth 

from the surface down t o and i n c l u d i n g 100 f e e t below the 

base of the deepest formation penetrated by d r i l l i n g . " 

That's — 

Q. So you're g e t t i n g — A l l of the discussions 

between Ms. Green and Mr. Farmer had been w i t h a depth 

l i m i t a t i o n of some 7000 or 7500 f e e t ; i s n ' t t h a t true? 

A. I t ' s 7900, I b e l i e v e , the l a s t l e t t e r t h a t — the 

l a s t number t h a t you wrote. 

Q. And t h a t ' s what you're asking f o r here, i s t o the 

base of the base of the Abo? 

A. Yeah, and — 

Q. But you're sending her a lease t h a t would be from 

the surface t o the center of the e a r t h ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 
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A. And a t the e x p i r a t i o n of t h a t lease or the 

continuous development program, a l l r i g h t s 100 f e e t below 

the deepest formation penetrated would r e v e r t t o Coates, 

yes, s i r . That's a very standard p r o v i s i o n , we've got i t 

i n hundreds of leases. 

Q. Well, t h a t had not been the subject whatsoever of 

the n e g o t i a t i o n s between the p a r t i e s , nor i s i t t h e s u b j e c t 

of — 

A. Oh, I t h i n k e a r l y on i t was. The l e t t e r s t h a t — 

Q. That would be an u n l i m i t e d depth? 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Excuse me, gentlemen, you need 

t o speak one a t a time. Please l e t the a t t o r n e y f i n i s h h i s 

question before you s t a r t your answer, and then l e t the 

witness f i n i s h h i s answer before you s t a r t the next 

question. Go on. 

THE WITNESS: I n h i s September 9, 1999, l e t t e r , 

the l a s t p r o v i s i o n i n the terms t h a t he proposes i s a Pugh 

clause t h a t says "Lessee w i l l earn t o t o t a l depth d r i l l e d ; 

lease t o provide f o r continuous development w i t h 18 0 days 

between w e l l a f t e r the end of the primary term." 

Exactly how we got t o 7900 f e e t , I t h i n k t h a t 

came from Coates Energy i n a subsequent l e t t e r , and 7900 

f e e t i s 100 f e e t below TD i n almost every w e l l we d r i l l out 

t h e r e , so i t was acceptable t o — t h a t was something we 

ought not t o argue anymore, because from a p r a c t i c a l 
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standpoint we don't d r i l l Devonian or Ellenburger w e l l s out 

t h e r e , we d r i l l t o the base of the Abo. 

Q. (By Mr. Gallegos) But you d i d n ' t put t h a t -- you 

d i d n ' t s t a t e t h a t i n your lease, t h a t t h i s lease was only 

t o t h a t depth, d i d you? 

A. No, what I'm saying i s — 

Q. So a lease t h a t would have included those deep 

formations j u s t l i k e you're t a l k i n g about, Devonian and 

Pennsylvanian, whatever, deep formations — 

A. Had we d r i l l e d i t , but we don't d r i l l i t . And 

you know — 

Q. But you would have leased i t — I f t h i s lease had 

been signed, you would have had those formations? 

A. Yeah, t h a t ' s a very f a i r p r o v i s i o n . You get what 

you d r i l l t o evaluate. I t ' s very commonly accepted i n Lea 

County, New Mexico. 

Q. Okay, so under t h i s lease, i f you decided t o 

d r i l l t o deep formations, you would have been able t o , or 

you would have farmed them out — 

A. Not — 

Q. — l e t somebody else d r i l l i t ? 

A. We wouldn't have held them w i t h o u t producing from 

them. And i f we were producing from them, how i n the world 

would Coates be harmed? I f we d i d n ' t produce from them, a t 

the end of the primary term she gets back e v e r y t h i n g below 
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the — w e l l , she gets back e v e r y t h i n g below the base of the 

deepest formation penetrated. So I guess obviously i f we 

d i d d r i l l the Devonian, why, we would have earned i t . I f 

i t had produced, she would have go t t e n i t ; i f i t d i d n ' t 

produce, i t ' s k i n d of a moot p o i n t . 

Q. Okay. And so f o r 3 0 months you would have he l d 

t h a t — a l l those formations from the surface t o the center 

of the earth? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. Let's look at the r o y a l t y p r o v i s i o n s . 

A. You're going back t o my lease? 

Q. We're t a l k i n g about your lease, t h a t ' s what we're 

t a l k i n g about. 

A. Okay. 

Q. I t ' s attached t o E x h i b i t 15, which i s — 

A. I know — 

Q. — your June 2 6th — 

A. I know where i t i s . 

Q. — 2000, l e t t e r , your l e t t e r of a year and f o u r 

months ago. Paragraph 3, I quote, "The r o y a l t i e s t o be 

p a i d by Lessee are: a) on o i l , and other l i q u i d 

hydrocarbons saved a t the w e l l , 1/4 of t h a t produced and 

saved from s a i d land, same t o be d e l i v e r e d a t the w e l l s or 

t o the c r e d i t of Lessor i n the p i p e l i n e t o which the w e l l s 

may be connected". 
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A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. That i s the only language i n t h i s lease t h a t 

s p e c i f i e s how r o y a l t y i s t o be paid on o i l ; i s n ' t t h a t 

true? 

A. I t h i n k t h a t ' s t r u e . 

Q. Okay. I s t h a t a payment t o be on proceeds? 

A. Value a t the wellhead, which i s where we s e l l o i l 

and gas. 

Q. You — 

A. We d e l i v e r the o i l i n tanks a t the wellhead, and 

we d e l i v e r gas i n t o a p i p e l i n e a t the wellhead, and we pay 

on the value of what we receive — 

Q. Well, what — 

A. — and t h i s would be a quarter of whatever i t i s 

t h a t we receive. 

Q. So t h a t you would pay on the market value? 

A. Well, we pay on what we receive. 

Q. So i f you — 

A. That i s the market value t o us, but t h a t ' s — but 

under the very complex terms t h a t you provide i n your 

lease, t h a t would be markedly d i f f e r e n t . A whole l o t 

easier t o understand, i t ' s j u s t what we received, which 

seems t o me t o be a very f a i r p r o v i s i o n : You pay what you 

get. 

Q. I t doesn't even say t h a t , does i t ? I t doesn't 
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even say t h a t you pay based on what you r e c e i v e , or on 

proceeds or any other language t o t h a t e f f e c t , does i t , Mr. 

Leonard? 

A. Well, i f you read a l i t t l e b i t f u r t h e r down i n 

l i n e 4, i t says "on gas, casinghead..." 

Q. I'm not t a l k i n g — I'm asking you about o i l r i g h t 

now. 

A. On o i l , I t h i n k a) — 3 a ) i s the only t h i n g 

t h a t ' s s a i d about o i l . 

Q. Yeah, these are supposed t o be o i l w e l l s , r i g h t ? 

A. No, probably t w o - t h i r d s of the revenue t h a t we 

get i s gas. They don't make a l o t of gas, but they don't 

make a l o t of o i l e i t h e r . But they make — The value of 

the gas i s about — the t o t a l p roduction stream we have out 

th e r e i s about t w o - t h i r d s gas. But they're o i l w e l l s , 

though, yes, s i r . 

Q. That's why they're on 4 0-acre spacing, r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . So i t doesn't say anything about 

proceeds, and would we guess t h a t i t means gross proceeds, 

or would the r o y a l t y owner f i n d out when they get t h e i r 

check t h a t i t means net proceeds? 

A. Well, t h i s p r o v i s i o n i s — simply says what you -

- what — one quarter of the value produced and saved a t 

the w e l l , so — 
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Q. Where's the word "value"? I don't see t h a t — 

A. There's none there — 

Q. — on t h i s — 

A. There i s n ' t "value" i n t h a t sentence. 

Q. So — 

A. We don't have a very complicated o p e r a t i o n . We 

s e l l crude o i l and we get paid the value of what we s e l l a t 

the wellhead, and we get what everybody else gets. We 

ne g o t i a t e a c o n t r a c t t h a t ' s got a posted p r i c e p l u s a 

bonus, and t h a t ' s what — everybody gets the same p r i c e , 

and — the r o y a l t y owners, the working i n t e r e s t owners, 

everybody. I t ' s j u s t not very complicated, and we — 

Q. Well, do you t h i n k i t ' s u n f a i r t h a t a r o y a l t y 

owner would want t o know t h a t the produ c t i o n from i t s 

minerals which i t owns are not going t o be s o l d a t market 

value? I s t h a t too much t o ask? 

A. We do s e l l i t a t market value. I t h i n k everybody 

has confidence t h a t t h a t ' s e x a c t l y what we're doing. We're 

s e l l i n g a t what the market w i l l pay us f o r the value of 

t h a t product. That i s the market value t h a t we get, and 

t h a t ' s the market value t h a t 3 60 lessors accept and a l l of 

my working i n t e r e s t partners and a l l the r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t 

owners. I t ' s a very f a i r deal. We pay t h e i r p r o p o r t i o n a t e 

percentage of what we receive. 

Q. So then you don't have any problem — 
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A. That i s the market value of i t — 

Q. So you — 

A. — under t h i s lease. 

Q. So then you don't have any problem w i t h a lease 

t h a t s p e c i f i e s t h a t , t h a t the r o y a l t y f o r o i l w i l l be based 

on market value? 

A. Well, i t would depend on what the d e f i n i t i o n of 

market value i s . I do have some of t h i s , but the market 

value i s t y p i c a l l y defined as what we r e c e i v e . 

The only t h i n g t h a t -- what the leases t h a t we 

n e g o t i a t e t h a t r e a l l y deal w i t h t h i s deal w i t h i s less than 

arm's l e n g t h t r a n s a c t i o n s , where you have an i n t e r e s t i n 

the o i l purchasing company or the gas purchasing company. 

Then they get i n t o more s p e c i f i c d e f i n i t i o n s about what 

market value i s . 

But we don't do t h a t . We don't have an i n t e r e s t 

i n the crude o i l company, and we don't have an i n t e r e s t i n 

the gas. I t ' s an arm's length deal, and they t y p i c a l l y 

p rovide t h a t market value i s what we r e c e i v e , and t h a t ' s 

what we give people. 

Q. So whatever you get, t h a t ' s market value as f a r 

as you're concerned, whether the guy j u s t down the road i s 

g e t t i n g two d o l l a r s more a b a r r e l f o r o i l ? As f a r as 

you're concerned, what you get, t h a t ' s market value? 

A. Well, we b i d t h i s out every s i x months, and we do 
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the best j o b we can of g e t t i n g the best p r i c e we can get 

f o r what we produce, yes, s i r . What we get i s market 

value. I t ' s the only c o n t r o l I have. I f Amoco i s 

producing f o r me down the road and Amoco's got a j i l l i o n 

b a r r e l s of crude o i l t h a t they're d e l i v e r i n g out of t h a t 

area t o somebody, and they have a c o n t r a c t t h a t ' s something 

I can't get somebody t o give me, I can't compete w i t h t h a t . 

I can only do what I can do. 

Q. Are there any deductions t o come out of the 

amount t h a t i s — 

A. Just severance taxes and r o y a l t y . 

Q. So there's no net — no net back deduction f o r 

t r a n s p o r t a t i o n — 

A. No, most a l l — 

Q. — or anything — 

A. — of our lease provide t h a t — not most a l l of 

our leases, a l o t of our leases provide t h a t as the — I 

t h i n k they took t h a t clause out of the U n i v e r s i t y Lands 

Lease i n Texas, t h a t there w i l l be no deduction f o r 

g a t h e r i n g , t r a n s p o r t a t i o n , handling or whatever i t i s , and 

no, we don't do t h a t . 

Q. Well, how i s the o i l — how does the o i l from 

these w e l l s reach market? 

A. I t ' s trucked t o a p i p e l i n e i n p u t s t a t i o n close t o 

Hobbs and put i n t o p i p e l i n e . 
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Q. And there's no t r u c k i n g charges? 

A. Those gone — went away a long time ago. I 

haven't seen a t r u c k i n g charge out t h e r e i n t e n or twelve 

years. 

Q. So the — As a p r a c t i c a l matter, the p r i c e of the 

o i l a t the p o i n t of r e c e i p t i s net of the charge f o r 

t r u c k i n g ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? For t r a n s p o r t a t i o n ? 

A. Well, i t ' s t i e d t o the c o n t r a c t p r i c e t h a t we get 

f o r i t , and t r u c k i n g i s not a p a r t of t h a t c o n t r a c t . I 

suppose t h a t when a crude o i l company gives me a c o n t r a c t 

f o r the p r i c e , they take i n t o c o n s i d e r a t i o n a l l of t h e i r 

costs and they t e l l me what they're w i l l i n g t o pay me f o r 

i t . But they don't make any separate deduction f o r 

anything. 

Q. No, because i t ' s n e t t e d . I n other words, they 

may be paying you $20 a b a r r e l f o r the o i l , but t h a t ' s 

because they have already allowed a d o l l a r a b a r r e l f o r the 

t r a n s p o r t a t i o n from your w e l l t o the p i p e l i n e ? 

A. Well, I would have no way of knowing t h a t . We 

j u s t — We simply get a c o n t r a c t p r i c e from them, we b i d i t 

out, and we b i d i t out t o f o u r or f i v e or s i x companies, 

and we take the best we can get — 

Q. Well — 

A. — which i s — which i s about what we can do. 

Q. Well, i s the value under t h i s lease t o be a r r i v e d 
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a t a t the w e l l , or a t some remote p o i n t ? 

A. I t ' s a r r i v e d a t the w e l l , my understanding, f o r 

o i l and gas both. Gas i s pipeline-connected a t the w e l l 

and the tanks are located on each tank — each tank b a t t e r y 

i s l o c a t e d r i g h t adjacent t o the w e l l , and t h a t ' s where the 

d e l i v e r y p o i n t f o r o i l i s . The d e l i v e r y p o i n t f o r gas i s 

r i g h t on the lease — 

Q. I thought you said — Excuse me, I thought you 

sa i d the d e l i v e r y p o i n t f o r the o i l was a t some place down 

the way a f t e r i t ' s been trucked. 

A. That may be the d e l i v e r y p o i n t f o r the crude o i l , 

but not f o r me. I thought you asked me i f i t was — i f — 

what the crude o i l company d i d w i t h i t . They take the 

crude from our lease. I t ' s gauged, measured and the value 

i s assigned when they take i t from our lease, and my 

understanding i s t h a t i t ' s i n p u t i n t o one of the m u l t i p l e 

p i p e l i n e s t a t i o n s around Hobbs and forwarded t o market from 

t h e r e . 

But we're not involved i n t h a t , we don't have a 

downstream k i n d of a c o n t r a c t . I t ' s simply what we s e l l i t 

f o r a t the wellhead. 

Q. So i t ' s a net p r i c e , r i g h t ? 

A. What's t h a t mean? 

Q. Well, i t ' s a p r i c e net of the t r a n s p o r t a t i o n t o 

get i t t o the p o i n t where the buyer puts i t i n the 
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p i p e l i n e ? 

A. I t ' s a p r i c e t h a t i s the gross p r i c e , based upon 

the c o n t r a c t t h a t we have w i t h t h a t company. There's no 

mention of t r a n s p o r t a t i o n or a net out, anything l i k e t h a t . 

I t ' s what we're g e t t i n g paid f o r . 

Q. Okay, so the lease p r o v i s i o n s here should r e a l l y 

read, both as t o o i l and gas, the r o y a l t y owner i s t o be 

p a i d by the lessee on the basis of whatever the l e s s e r can 

get f o r the o i l or the gas? 

A. Market value of the o i l or the gas i s what we 

r e c e i v e f o r i t , yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay, so i t should read market value? 

A. Well, t h a t i s the — t h a t would be the d e f i n i t i o n 

of our market value, under t h i s lease form, i s what we get 

p a i d f o r i t . What we get paid, you get p a i d . 

Q. So i s i t a market value? Should i t be a market 

value lease? 

A. The term "market value" i s n ' t i n t h i s p a r t i c u l a r 

paragraph. But t h a t ' s what you're t a l k i n g about. 

Q. But you'd be w i l l i n g t o put t h a t i n , t h a t ' s — 

A. Well, the value received i s what you get. I 

don't know about the term "market" because t h a t has 

connotations i n your mind, I guess, of something f a r and a 

cr y from what I'm t a l k i n g about. What you're g e t t i n g i s 

your p r o p o r t i o n a t e share of the value received t h a t we get, 
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no more, no l e s s . 

Q. Whether you get market value or not, r i g h t ? 

A. Whether I get what you consider t o be market 

value or not, yes. 

Q. Or what the market considers t o be market value? 

A. Oh, I t h i n k we do a p r e t t y good j o b of t h a t . I 

suspect i f your c l i e n t researched t h a t , she would see t h a t . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . So a c t u a l l y f o r your purposes and the 

purposes of the White Owl Number 1 w e l l , your need i s only 

f o r 40 acres of the minerals of Coates Energy Trust? 

A. Well, we'd l i k e t o have the whole 160, but the 

need f o r the White Owl i s the 40 acres, yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay, so a lease of t h a t 40 acres, of course, 

wouldn't need a p o o l i n g clause, because one w e l l , 40 acres 

and — That would be i t , r i g h t ? 

A. Well, the p o o l i n g p r o v i s i o n — we have pooled s i x 

u n i t s out t h e r e f o r gas. We found — we d r i l l e d some deep 

w e l l s , oh, e i g h t or t e n years ago t o the Abo and the 

Drinkard and the B l i n e b r y and d i d not succeed i n the deep 

w e l l s , and we had a Yates-Seven Rivers gas f o r m a t i o n a t 

roughly 2800 t o 3000, 3200 f e e t , t h a t we discovered, and we 

formed 160-acre u n i t s . We've had t o pool the v a r i o u s 40-

acre or 2 0-acre t r a c t s t h a t we had leased t o g e t h e r i n t o a 

160-acre u n i t f o r the production of gas from those u n i t s . 

So t h a t ' s — The p o o l i n g p r o v i s i o n i s i n t h e r e . For the 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

78 

o i l t h a t we're doing, we do not need i t . 

But what i t ' s i n there f o r i s i n the instance 

t h a t we don't succeed w i t h the o i l , and we end up being 

f o r t u n a t e enough t o f i n d some Yates-Seven Rivers gas or 

some other gas, Queen gas or whatever, a t 4 000 — 3800 t o 

4000 f e e t . We would have the r i g h t t o pool these leases 

t o g e t h e r t o form a 160-acre u n i t , which we would need from 

the Commission here t o produce t h a t u n i t . 

Q. Correct, because you're asking f o r 40-acre 

spacing here i n t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n , and you'd need 160-acre 

spacing i f i t t u r n s out t o be a gas well? 

A. Exactly. 

Q. And i n f a c t , some of your w e l l s have turne d out 

t o be gas w e l l s — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — i s n ' t t h a t true? The Rhino Number 1, f o r 

example, i n Section 11, t h a t ' s a gas w e l l — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — i n the Yates formation? 

A. And we j u s t d r i l l e d t h a t one t o the Yates, t h a t 

was not a deeper w e l l . Rhino and the south o f f s e t , t he 

Amerada Wise was a shallow gas w e l l also. The Corrigan 

w e l l , which i s i n the northeast of 14, was a deep w e l l t h a t 

we plugged back t o the Yates-Seven Rivers, and t h a t ' s why 

we subsequently d r i l l e d the Amerada Wise and the Rhino. 
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Q. Let me move along here, I see what's happening t o 

us on the time. But as I understand i t , i f you get a lease 

from anybody, then you t u r n around and you assign p o r t i o n s 

of t h a t leasehold i n t e r e s t t o your various i n v e s t o r s ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. So i f you enter i n t o — I f Coates were t o 

enter i n t o t h i s lease t h a t you proposed back i n June of 

2 000, then t h e r e would be an assignment out t o m u l t i p l e 

p a r t i e s , 2 0 or 3 0 d i f f e r e n t investors? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And under paragraph 8 of t h i s form of lease, 

then, you or — when I say "you" I should r e f e r t o Leonard 

Resources Investment — would be r e l i e v e d and discharged of 

any o b l i g a t i o n s under the lease? 

A. Well, we have t o r i g h t t o assign i t . 

Q. Yeah, and I read the language, which I quote, "An 

assignment of t h i s lease i n whole or i n p a r t s h a l l , t o the 

e x t e n t of such assignment, r e l i e v e and discharge Lessee of 

any o b l i g a t i o n s hereunder..." and then I ' l l go on because 

t h e r e 1 s another p a r t of t h a t sentence t h a t ' s very 

i n t e r e s t i n g . 

So f i r s t of a l l , under t h i s lease language you'd 

be r e l i e v e d of any o b l i g a t i o n ? 

A. Well, read the f i r s t paragraph of t h a t , the f i r s t 

sentence i n t h a t paragraph. I t says, "The r i g h t of e i t h e r 
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p a r t y hereunder may be assigned i n whole or i n p a r t and the 

p r o v i s i o n s hereof s h a l l extend t o the h e i r s , executors, 

a d m i n i s t r a t o r s , successors and assigns; but no change i n 

the ownership of the land or i n the ownership o f , or r i g h t s 

t o r e c e i v e , r o y a l t i e s or s h u t - i n r o y a l t i e s , however 

accomplished s h a l l operate t o enlarge the o b l i g a t i o n s or 

d i m i n i s h the r i g h t s of Lessee; and no change...shall be 

b i n d i n g upon Lessee...Lessee" — 

Q. Yeah, t h a t i s a l l f o r p r o t e c t i o n of the Lessee. 

There's nothing i n there i n t h a t language t h a t ' s f o r the 

b e n e f i t of the Lessor, i s t h e r e , Mr. Leonard? 

A. Not t h a t I've read so f a r . 

Q. That's a l l biased f o r the Lessee. And then i t 

goes on t o say once you've assigned t h i s and you've got i t 

o f f i n t o 25 or 30 d i f f e r e n t pieces, i f some of those 

assignees d e f a u l t i n t h e i r performance, then the lease 

remains i n e f f e c t as t o the other pieces t h a t had been 

assigned out. That's what i t says, doesn't i t ? 

A. Defaults i n what regard? 

Q. Well, f a i l s t o comply w i t h the p r o v i s i o n s of the 

lease, f a i l s t o pay r o y a l t y . 

A. Well, they don't pay the r o y a l t y . The r o y a l t y i s 

p a i d by the purchasers, and we see t o i t t h a t i t ' s p a i d . 

My p a r t n e r s don't have anything t o do w i t h t h a t . I f they 

d e f a u l t , they would — The only d e f a u l t t h a t my p a r t n e r s 
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would have would be t o Scott Davis and I . They would 

d e f a u l t i n the payment of a lease operating expense or a 

d r i l l i n g cost i n a w e l l . That would be a d e f a u l t t h a t 

would a f f e c t us, but i t wouldn't a f f e c t you guys a t a l l . 

I t wouldn't a f f e c t any r o y a l t y owner. 

Q. Under your present arrangement? 

A. Under — Yes. 

Q. That arrangement could change tomorrow, couldn't 

i t ? 

A. How? 

Q. By one of these assignees saying, I want my 

i n t e r e s t separate, I don't want you s e l l i n g my gas, I don't 

want you s e l l i n g my o i l , I'm going t o s e l l i t on my own, I 

can do a l o t b e t t e r , and I ' l l pay my r o y a l t i e s . They have 

every r i g h t t o do t h a t ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Oh, I guess i f you're l o o k i n g f o r a bogeyman i n 

anything you can f i n d i t . I've been d e a l i n g w i t h these 

people f o r almost 20 years and I've never, ever had t h a t 

problem, never had i t a r i s e . They're s i l e n t p a r t n e r s , they 

don't get i n v o l v e d i n the a d m i n i s t r a t i o n of any of t h i s 

s t u f f . 

Q. Okay, so again i t ' s k i n d of l i k e the r o y a l t y and 

what we s e l l f o r , j u s t b e l i e v e i n us? I s t h a t what you're 

t e l l i n g me? 

A. Check us out, ask the 350 people t h a t are 
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c u r r e n t l y i n v o l v e d w i t h us — 

Q. Well, Mr. Leonard — 

A. — I don't t h i n k y o u ' l l f i n d — 

Q. — i f I — 

A. — I don't t h i n k y o u ' l l f i n d — 

MR. BRUCE: I obj e c t — 

THE WITNESS: — any im p r o p r i e t y — 

MR. MORROW: — I ob j e c t . 

THE WITNESS: — i n any p a r t of i t . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Gentlemen, we're j u s t becoming 

argumentative here. Let's don't do t h a t , l e t ' s go back t o 

question and answer — 

THE WITNESS: I'm so r r y . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: — and de a l i n g w i t h the f a c t s . 

Mr. Gallegos, you may continue. 

Q. (By Mr. Gallegos) Did you check out any of the 

many, many lessees who have worked w i t h Coates Energy and 

accepted t h e i r lease form? Did you check them out? VF 

Petroleum i n Midland, do you know those people? 

A. Very w e l l . 

Q. Did you check them out? 

A. I know them very w e l l . 

Q. Okay. Let me j u s t ask you about another 

p r o v i s i o n here, paragraph 9, s o r t of a f o r c e majeure 

clause. I t says t h a t "Should Lessee be prevented from 
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prevented from complying w i t h any express or i m p l i e d 

covenant of t h i s lease..." there's an excuse based on 

" i n a b i l i t y t o o b t a i n or use equipment or m a t e r i a l s " ? I 

mean, i f your people don't know how t o use some equipment 

t h a t you're excused from performance of the lease? 

A. I doubt t h a t ' s what t h a t means. That may be the 

way t h a t you read i t , but I doubt t h a t ' s what t h a t means. 

Q. Do you know t h a t t h i s Producer's 88 was w r i t t e n 

probably 40 or 50 years ago and i s t o t a l l y one-sided i n 

fav o r of the lessees? 

A. Well, I j u s t know t h a t I've got a huge lease 

p o r t f o l i o , and we operate a number of w e l l s very 

s u c c e s s f u l l y under t h i s lease and have no problems. 

Q. And a l o t of r o y a l t y owners and a l o t of less o r s 

are very uninformed; i s n ' t t h a t t r u e , Mr. Leonard? 

A. We have a l o t t h a t are very informed, and we have 

no problems w i t h i t . 

Q. Well, j u s t a couple of — I t i s t r u e , i s n ' t i t , 

Mr. Leonard, t h a t u n t i l your testimony today you had never 

s p e c i f i e d t o Coates Energy Trust the o b j e c t i o n s t o t h e i r 

lease form, other than the continuous d r i l l i n g o b l i g a t i o n 

of 9 0 versus 18 0 days? 

A. And the r o y a l t y p r o v i s i o n . 

Q. Well, j u s t your blanket statement t h a t you d i d n ' t 

l i k e the r o y a l t y provision? I mean, you d i d n ' t s p e c i f y any 
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p a r t i c u l a r term of i t u n t i l today, d i d you? 

A. I wasn't given any encouragement t o . 

Q. I see, a l l r i g h t . And on the continuous d r i l l i n g 

o b l i g a t i o n d i d you ever consider, f o r example, l e t ' s see i f 

we can meet halfway, and instead of 9 0 days or 18 0 days, 

l e t ' s say w e ' l l use 120 days? 

A. Well, as I i n d i c a t e d t o you, we've d e a l t w i t h 

t h i s lady and w i t h Coates f o r a s i x - or seven-month p e r i o d 

of time, i n our minds very unsuccessfully and not very 

p r o f i t a b l y . 

When I got the o i l and gas lease i t was i n i t s 

e n t i r e t y , almost i t s e n t i r e t y , unacceptable t o me. We had 

no i n d i c a t i o n from the conversations t h a t Glen Farmer had 

had w i t h t h i s lady over a number of months t h a t we would 

have any success a t item by item n e g o t i a t i n g a successful 

lease form. And as I i n d i c a t e d t o you, the t i t l e lawyer 

t h a t I had gave me no encouragement t o attempt t o do i t , 

i t ' s t oo complicated — 

Q. Okay, j u s t so — 

A. — t o cut and paste t h i s lease form. 

Q. Just so the record i s a b s o l u t e l y c l e a r on t h i s , 

a f t e r your l e t t e r of June 26th, 2000, you d i d no t h i n g t o 

attempt t o ne g o t i a t e a s a t i s f a c t o r y lease w i t h Coates 

Energy T r u s t , and instead i n August of the f o l l o w i n g year, 

w e l l over a year l a t e r , you f i l e d t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n f o r 
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f o r c e pooling? 

A. Well, I got some encouragement from Sherrie t o do 

t h a t , s i r . I n her response t o the lease t h a t I sent her 

she says, I t would not be i n Coates 1 best i n t e r e s t t o lease 

under the p r i n t e d form lease t h a t you enclosed, e s p e c i a l l y 

since our lease form i s acceptable t o other companies. 

Next paragraph says, " A d d i t i o n a l l y , Leonard 

o f f e r e d i n i t s l e t t e r t o submit an AFE t o Coates f o r i t s 

c o n s i d e r a t i o n so t h a t i t may p a r t i c i p a t e i n the 

d r i l l i n g . . . " of a w e l l . When she i n t e r j e c t e d t h a t 

paragraph I presumed t h a t a d e c i s i o n had already been made 

by Coates t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n the w e l l . 

Going through a very — 

Q. Excuse me, I d i d n ' t f o l l o w t h a t . What i s t h e r e 

t h a t says they want t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n the w e l l ? 

A. She says — 

MR. BRUCE: I s t h a t E x h i b i t 16, Mr. Leonard? 

THE WITNESS: Yeah, i t ' s your e x h i b i t , 16, i t ' s 

her J u l y 17 l e t t e r . " A d d i t i o n a l l y , Leonard o f f e r e d i n i t s 

l e t t e r t o submit an AFE t o Coates f o r i t s c o n s i d e r a t i o n . . . 

I n order f o r Coates t o take i n t o c o n s i d e r a t i o n 

p a r t i c i p a t i o n i n any such w e l l , please f u r n i s h Coates 

geologic/geophysical data..." t h i s , of course "...and your 

proposed form of J o i n t Operating Agreement." 

I presumed from t h a t paragraph t h a t a d e c i s i o n 
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had been made by her t o — or by Coates t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n 

t h i s w e l l . 

Q. (By Mr. Gallegos) Oh, you did? Then why d i d n ' t 

you send her the AFE and the g e o l o g i c a l information? 

A. Didn't have i t . We were — That's why she d i d n ' t 

hear from me f o r a year. I t o l d her i n my l e t t e r t h a t a t 

such time as we got ready t o d r i l l the w e l l , she'd hear 

from me. 

I don't do — We've got s i x or seven w e l l s we've 

d r i l l e d since we d i d t h i s . We've got a whole l o t of other 

t h i n g s going on than — and we had no AFE put together f o r 

t h i s w e l l . We were d r i l l i n g w e l l s t h a t were t o determine 

whether or not t h i s u n i t was even going t o be something 

t h a t we were going t o want t o d r i l l . That's where our 

a t t e n t i o n was. 

And I i n d i c a t e d t o her i n my l e t t e r t h a t I would 

get her the AFE a t such time as we got ready t o d r i l l the 

w e l l , and t h a t ' s what I d i d — 

Q. Okay — 

A. — and t h a t came i n J u l y of t h i s year when we 

f i n a l l y made up our minds based on the encouragement t h a t 

we got from the Red Tag w e l l s located immediately 

o f f s e t t i n g our acreage t h a t we would want t o proceed and 

d r i l l up on the n o r t h h a l f of 2. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: I f I may i n t e r j e c t a t t h i s 
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p o i n t , we're g e t t i n g i n t o the lunch hour and we have other 

people w a i t i n g f o r hearings. How long do you expect t o be 

w i t h t h i s witness? 

MR. GALLEGOS: I'm j u s t about f i n i s h e d w i t h t h i s 

witness. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay. Well, i f we can move 

along i t would be h e l p f u l t o the hearing process. 

MR. GALLEGOS: Yes — 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Go ahead. 

MR. GALLEGOS: — yes. Yes, Mr. Examiner. 

Q. (By Mr. Gallegos) So the record i s c l e a r , l e t me 

phrase the question t h i s way then: For one year you d i d 

n o t h i n g t o e i t h e r attempt n e g o t i a t i o n of a mut u a l l y 

agreeable lease or t o send an AFE and g e o l o g i c a l 

i n f o r m a t i o n on the proposed w e l l t o Coates Energy Trust? 

A. Yes, s i r , and I t h i n k I've explained why. 

MR. GALLEGOS: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Leonard, 

t h a t ' s a l l the questions t h a t I have. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: Could I have some r e d i r e c t , Mr. 

Examiner? 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Go ahead. 

MR. BRUCE: Well, I ' l l cut out most of what I 

have t o say. 
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REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Mr. Leonard, t o your knowledge has any r o y a l t y 

i n t e r e s t owner or o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y complained of the 

a d m i n i s t r a t i o n of the leases i n your dozen and a h a l f or 

two dozen w e l l s i n t h i s area of Lea County, New Mexico? 

A. Absolutely not. 

Q. Now, you made a proposal t o Coates on a lease 

form. They're not o b l i g a t e d t o accept your lease form, are 

they? 

A. No. 

Q. By the same token, you're not o b l i g a t e d t o accept 

t h e i r lease form? 

A. No. 

Q. And no lease form has ever been signed by the 

p a r t i e s ? 

A. No, s i r . 

MR. BRUCE: I t h i n k t h a t ' s i t , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Thank you. Let me, i f I may, 

c l a r i f y a few t h i n g s . 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER BROOKS: 

Q. You're asking only f o r a 4 0-acre u n i t . There was 

some discu s s i o n about a 160-acre u n i t , but are you asking 

only f o r a 40-acre u n i t ? 
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A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And t h a t ' s from the surface t o the base of the 

Abo? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And i f i t ended up being c l a s s i f i e d as a gas 

w e l l , you'd have t o come back f o r a subsequent proceeding? 

A. Exactly. 

Q. What were the footages t h a t — t h e r e again, as i n 

the previous case, you went too f a s t f o r me. 

A. I'm sorr y . This i s f o r the White Owl Number 1. 

I t i s t o be located 1650 from the n o r t h l i n e . 

Q. 1650 from the n o r t h . 

A. And 2100 f e e t from the west l i n e . 

Q. 2100 f e e t from the west l i n e . 

A. Section 2. 

Q. And your overhead was $4500 f o r d r i l l i n g r a te? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And what f o r producing? 

A. $450. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: I guess t h a t ' s a l l the 

questions I have. 

Mr. Stogner? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: No questions. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Very good, the witness ma stand 

down. 
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MR. BRUCE: I would c a l l Mr. W o r r a l l , t he 

g e o l o g i s t , again. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay. I f p o s s i b l e , I would 

l i k e t o get through t h i s proceeding before we recess f o r 

lunch, so you may go ahead. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, i f the r e c o r d could 

r e f l e c t t h a t Mr. W o r r a l l was q u a l i f i e d as an expert 

petroleum g e o l o g i s t subject t o any o b j e c t i o n t h a t Mr. 

Gallegos may have. 

MR. GALLEGOS: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: I w i l l modify what I s a i d , 

because I assume you're going t o present a witness a l s o — 

MR. GALLEGOS: Yes. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: — and I don't t h i n k i t ' s going 

t o be po s s i b l e t o get through t h i s proceeding i n i t s 

e n t i r e t y , but we w i l l t r y t o get through w i t h t h i s witness 

before we recess. 

JOHN WORRALL. 

the witness h e r e i n , having been p r e v i o u s l y duly sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Mr. W o r r a l l , why don't you r e f e r t o your E x h i b i t 

7, which i s the production p l a t , and discuss the primary 

zones of i n t e r e s t i n t h i s proposed well? 
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A. E x h i b i t 7 i s a BOE produc t i o n map. Shown on i t 

i s the White Owl Number 1 located i n the southeast q u a r t e r 

of t he northwest quarter. And elsewhere i n Section 2, t o 

the n o r t h , t h e r e was a dryhole d r i l l e d , which i s a key show 

f o r us. That w e l l was d r i l l e d i n 1950. I t ' s the only 

other w e l l d r i l l e d i n the n o r t h h a l f of Section 2. 

And I ' l l be showing you i n a minute a cross-

s e c t i o n t h a t w i l l run along t h a t blue l i n e A-A'. North of 

t h a t there's been two w e l l s t h a t have produced a modest 

amount of o i l , 15,000 and 73,000 b a r r e l s of o i l e q u i v a l e n t , 

from the dark blue i s B l i n e b r y , and then a l i t t l e b i t from 

the Tubb and the Drinkard. 

I n the southern p a r t of Section 2 y o u ' l l see two 

w e l l s t h a t have produced from the Drinkard. These are much 

ol d e r w e l l s . One of them i s c u r r e n t l y plugged and one of 

them c u r r e n t l y makes four b a r r e l s a day, so the y ' r e 

p r i m a r i l y depleted. 

And then i n the n o r t h h a l f of Section 2 there's 

two green dots t h a t are new w e l l s . The w e l l t h a t i s i n the 

northwest of the southeast has been completed i n the l a s t 

s i x months. I t ' s a 12-barrel-a-day w e l l c a l l e d the Red Tag 

Number 1. And the w e l l t h a t i s i n the northeast of the 

southwest, the west o f f s e t t h a t says A,B,T, i s scheduled 

f o r completion i n the next one or two weeks. I t has not 

been completed. I t ' s been d r i l l e d and we're w a i t i n g f o r a 
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p u l l i n g u n i t . 

Q. Okay, Mr. W o r r a l l , why don't you move t o your 

E x h i b i t s 8 and 9, which are the Abo maps i n connection 

w i t h , I t h i n k i t ' s E x h i b i t 14, your c r o s s - s e c t i o n . Why 

don't you discuss the Abo geology i n t h i s area? 

A. We've j u s t f i n i s h e d d r i l l i n g the Red Tag Number 

2, which has a t the top of the Abo dolomite a subsea top of 

minus 3 686, and our White Owl w i l l be n o r t h of t h a t w e l l , 

and then south of the C o l l Number 1, which i s minus 3 670. 

So s t r u c t u r a l l y we should be s i m i l a r t o those two w e l l s . 

I ' d l i k e t o j u s t go ahead s t r a i g h t and show you 

the c r o s s - s e c t i o n — 

Q. Go ahead. 

A. — I b e l i e v e you c a l l i t E x h i b i t 14 — so you get 

an idea f o r our o b j e c t i v e s . 

Okay, This i s a cross-section which shows the 

logs on s i x w e l l s , and i t ' s l abeled n o r t h t o south, and 

t h i s i s the same s i x w e l l s t h a t are shown A-A' on these 

maps. And our o b j e c t i v e s here are p r i m a r i l y the B l i n e b r y , 

which i n the n o r t h o f f s e t , the C o l l Number 1, which i s the 

t h i r d w e l l from the l e f t , i s a t a depth of 6050 f e e t . When 

t h a t w e l l was d r i l l e d , they recovered some gas on a d r i l l 

stem t e s t and some o i l - c u t mud, but they never completed 

the i n t e r v a l . 

That zone does not produce i n Section 2, but we 
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b e l i e v e i t should when we complete the B l i n e - — I'm s o r r y , 

i t has been r e c e n t l y been completed i n the B l i n e b r y from 

the Red Tag Number 1, and we plan t o complete i t i n the Red 

Tag 2, as w e l l look a t i t i n the White Owl Number 1. 

Our other o b j e c t i v e i s the Drinkard. The 

Drinkard i n the C o l l i s at 7000 f e e t . I t also produces 

from porous dolomites. The primary r i s k of t h a t i s g e t t i n g 

the p o r o s i t y developed. 

I f y o u ' l l go t o E x h i b i t -- the two maps on the 

Drinkard, there's a s t r u c t u r e map and a p o r o s i t y map on the 

D r i nkard p o r o s i t y . And the isopach shows t h a t the Red Tag 

2, r e l a t i v e t o the Red Tag 1, went from two f e e t of 

p o r o s i t y t o 43 f e e t i n a matter of 700 f e e t of d i f f e r e n c e . 

So i t ' s very r i s k y p r e d i c t i n g where p o r o s i t y goes i n these 

horizons, and t h a t ' s why we consider each 40 acres a 

w i l d c a t , because i t changes so r a p i d l y , more r a p i d l y than 

40-acre o f f s e t d r i l l i n g can p r e d i c t . 

Our t h i r d o b j e c t i v e i s the Abo, and y o u ' l l see on 

our c r o s s - s e c t i o n we l a b e l t h i s as p o s s i b l e pay. I t hasn't 

been produced y e t , but we have shows i n some of the 

i n t e r v a l s t h a t suggest i t should be p r o d u c t i v e . And what 

we do i n these — i n development out here and what we've 

p r o j e c t e d on the White Owl Number 1 i s t o commingle as any 

of these pays as we o b t a i n t o t r y and make a commercial 

w e l l . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

94 

The w e l l t h a t we d r i l l e d t o the south of us so 

f a r has been a disappointment. That's the Red Tag Number 

1. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Which one i s t h a t on t h i s 

cross-section? 

THE WITNESS: I t ' s not on the c r o s s - s e c t i o n 

because i t ' s a newer w e l l . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay. 

THE WITNESS: I t i s t h i s w e l l i n the northwest 

southeast — 

EXAMINER BROOKS: I t h i n k I've got i t on the map. 

I couldn't — 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: — wasn't f i n d i n g i t on the 

cr o s s - s e c t i o n because i t ' s not on the — 

THE WITNESS: Yes, i t ' s a newer w e l l than the 

cro s s - s e c t i o n , s i r . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay. Okay, proceed. 

THE WITNESS: And t h a t w e l l ' s making 12 b a r r e l s a 

day and 20 MCF of gas a day, and i t ' s a f a i r l y new w e l l . 

I t ' s a noncommercial w e l l r i g h t now, p r i m a r i l y due t o some 

completion r i s k . We also have completion r i s k . You have 

t o f r a c a l l these d i f f e r e n t zones, and your f r a c s sometimes 

go where they're supposed t o , and sometimes the technology 

i s not t h e r e t o keep i t i n zone. 
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So i n a d d i t i o n t o d r i l l i n g r i s k , we have 

completion r i s k . And our o b j e c t i v e s are t o t r y t o complete 

the Abo, the Drinkard and the B l i n e b r y . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) With respect t o a continuous 

development, development of leases l i k e t h i s or w e l l s l i k e 

t h i s , i s i t important t o have s u f f i c i e n t time between the 

completion of one w e l l and the commencement of another so 

t h a t you can evaluate the l a t e s t w e l l ' s performance before 

stepping out t o another well? 

A. Yes, very much so. We l e a r n t h i n g s on each w e l l . 

We're c o n s t a n t l y redesigning our f r a c s using the l a t e s t 

technology t o get the best completion we can, as w e l l as 

remapping t h i n g s . And obviously when you're spending 

$750,000 a w e l l , you want t o make sure you're commercially 

developing i t before you get too f a r down the road. 

So yeah, we do everything one w e l l a t a time or 

two w e l l s a t a time. 

Q. And l o o k i n g on your maps, i t ' s not uncommon t o 

have a good w e l l and then move one l o c a t i o n away and have a 

dry hole? 

A. Correct. 

Q. I n your o p i n i o n , should the maximum c o s t - p l u s -

200-percent p e n a l t y be assessed against any nonconsenting 

i n t e r e s t owner? 

A. Yes. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

96 

Q. And were E x h i b i t s 7 through 14 prepared by you or 

under your supervision? 

A. Yes, they were. 

Q. And i n your opinion i s the g r a n t i n g of Leonard 

Resource's A p p l i c a t i o n i n the i n t e r e s t s of conservation and 

the p r e v e n t i o n of waste? 

A. Yes. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d tender the 

admission of Leonard Resource E x h i b i t s 7 through 14. 

MR. GALLEGOS: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: 7 through 14 are admitted. 

Pass the witness, Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: Yes, s i r . 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. GALLEGOS: 

Q. I n t h i s d r i l l i n g p r o j e c t , Mr. W o r r a l l , what 

attempts have r e s u l t e d i n dry holes? 

A. We have d r i l l e d no dry holes — we've completed 

every w e l l we've d r i l l e d from a t e c h n i c a l s t a n d p o i n t . 

Q. Okay. What has been the average p e r i o d f o r 

payout, i f you know? 

A. We've got several w e l l s t h a t won't pay out a t 

a l l . Average payout i s probably two years. 

Q. I n Section 2, what — i s t h a t — would t h i s w e l l 

be w i t h i n a designated gas pool? 
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A. This w e l l would be i n an o i l p o o l . 

Q. And what pool i s tha t ? 

A. I be l i e v e i t would be p a r t of the House f i e l d . 

Q. The House f i e l d ? 

A. Yes. And the pool would depend on which h o r i z o n . 

Q. Okay. Does t h a t pool have s p e c i a l pool r u l e s as 

t o the o i l - g a s r a t i o ? 

A. Every w e l l i s considered an o i l w e l l , and I'm not 

sure of the pool r u l e s , but t o date e v e r y t h i n g has been a 

standard 40-acre p r o r a t i o n u n i t , i f t h a t helps you. 

Q. Well, you don't know of any — 

A. I don't know of any s p e c i a l r u l e s . 

Q. — any p a r t i c u l a r r u l e f o r t h a t pool t h a t ' s 

d i f f e r e n t than what the standard r a t i o would be? 

A. To my knowledge, i t ' s j u s t standard — standard 

r u l i n g , s i r . 

MR. GALLEGOS: Okay, t h a t ' s a l l the questions I 

have. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Did you have anything f u r t h e r , 

Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: I have nothing f u r t h e r of t h i s 

witness. 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER BROOKS: 

Q. Okay. Do you know the pool names f o r those 
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various formations? 

A. House-Drinkard. 

Q. House-Drinkard. 

A. And the Abo and the — I t ' s the House-Drinkard 

and the House-Blinebry. I t ' s p r e t t y much e v e r y t h i n g i s 

House and then whatever the formation i s . 

Q. So i t ' s House-Drinkard, House-Blinebry, and then 

i s i t House-Abo? 

A. House-Abo. The Abo hasn't been produced y e t . 

Q. Okay, there i s no — 

MR. BRUCE: I t i s w i t h i n a mil e of the House-Abo 

Pool. 

Q. (By Examiner Brooks) Okay, i t ' s w i t h i n a m i l e of 

the House-Abo, but i t ' s not p r e s e n t l y i n , c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay, t h a t ' s a l l I have. 

Mr. Stogner? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I have no questions. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Very good, the witness may 

stand down. 

How long do you a n t i c i p a t e y o u ' l l need w i t h your 

witness, Mr. Gallegos? 

MR. GALLEGOS: Oh, I'm going t o estimate 20, 25 

minutes. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Well, I t h i n k i t would be best 
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we go ahead and take our luncheon recess, and w e ' l l stand 

i n recess u n t i l 1:30. 

(Thereupon, a recess was taken a t 12:25 p.m.) 

(The f o l l o w i n g proceedings had a t 1:35 p.m.) 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Good afternoon. 

(Off the record) 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay, you may c a l l your 

witness, Mr. Gallegos. 

MR. GALLEGOS: We c a l l Sherrie Green. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay. 

SHERRIE GREEN. 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

her oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. GALLEGOS: 

Q. Would you s t a t e your name, please? 

A. My name i s Sherrie Green. 

Q. Where do you l i v e , Ms. Green? 

A. I l i v e i n San Antonio, Texas. 

Q. Are you employed by Coates Energy Trust? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. I n what capacity? 

A. I am now t h e i r land manager. I've been t h e r e 

w i t h t h e i r land department and now I'm t h e i r land manager, 

but I've been w i t h them f o r 2 6 years. 
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Q. And what are your general d u t i e s and 

r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s as land manager f o r Coates Energy Trust? 

A. Okay, p r i m a r i l y I maintain and I monitor t h e i r 

m i n e r a l and r o y a l t y f i l e s , I a s s i s t them w i t h t he 

n e g o t i a t i o n s on the leases on t h e i r mineral i n t e r e s t s , I 

monitor those p r o p e r t i e s once t h a t they are found t o be 

pro d u c t i v e , I monitor t o make sure t h a t the leases are 

complied w i t h . That's p r i m a r i l y what I do. 

Q. Are you a c e r t i f i e d p r o f e s s i o n a l landman? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. Landperson? 

A. Yes, I am. 

MR. GALLEGOS: I o f f e r Ms. Green's q u a l i f i c a t i o n s 

t o s t a t e opinions concerning the subject of o i l and gas 

land issues. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Any objection? 

MR. BRUCE: No o b j e c t i o n , Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Her q u a l i f i c a t i o n s w i l l be 

accepted. 

Q. (By Mr. Gallegos) Would you e x p l a i n t o the 

Examiner j u s t g e n e r a l l y what i s Coates Energy Trust? 

A. The founder of Coates Energy Trust was George 

Coates. He had purchased many mineral and r o y a l t y 

i n t e r e s t s i n mine s t a t e s , i n c l u d i n g New Mexico, i n the 

1920s, the 1930s, probably up t o the 1950s. 
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Mr. Coates d i d d r i l l and operate w e l l s , and he 

d i d p a r t i c i p a t e i n w e l l s t h a t were a c t u a l l y d r i l l e d on h i s 

miner a l i n t e r e s t . 

Mr. Coates died i n 1972. The company continued 

t o operate under the estate of George H. Coates u n t i l i t 

was s e t t l e d i n about 1980. 

At t h a t p o i n t , as per the w i l l , Coates Energy 

Tr u s t was formed. Half of Mr. Coates' i n t e r e s t t h a t he had 

and h i s assets went t o Coates Energy T r u s t , the other h a l f 

went t o h i s w i f e , E l i z a b e t h Maddox. 

Through the years, Coates has di v e s t e d i t s e l f of 

working i n t e r e s t s t h a t i t had, and a t t h i s p o i n t — and i t 

doesn't own any — c u r r e n t l y i t doesn't operate any 

p r o p e r t i e s . At t h i s p o i n t what the t r u s t e e s — ther e ' s two 

t r u s t e e s t h a t manage Coates Energy T r u s t , and what they are 

p r i m a r i l y focusing on i s t o manage these mineral and 

r o y a l t y assets. 

Q. What are the — as you understand i t , what are 

the r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s of the t r u s t e e s toward the 

b e n e f i c i a r i e s ? 

A. Okay, w e l l , the two t r u s t e e s , they do have a 

f i d u c i a r y duty t o these b e n e f i c i a r i e s , and t h a t i s t o 

p r o t e c t these assets and t o get the most value t h a t t hey're 

worth, and t h a t i s t h e i r r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s . 

Q. But j u s t g e n e r a l l y , what are the ext e n t of the 
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assets h e l d by the Coates Energy Trust? 

A. Are you t a l k i n g about how many? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Like I sa i d , t h a t they're mine s t a t e s , they do 

have mineral and r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t s , and there's probably 

about 350,000 gross acres. 

Q. And i n larg e p a r t i s t h a t acreage leased t o 

va r i o u s lessees and operators of o i l and gas — 

A. Right — 

Q. — production? 

A. — some of them are, r i g h t . 

Q. Okay. With what frequency do your d u t i e s c a l l 

f o r you t o communicate w i t h , n e g o t i a t e w i t h and formulate 

agreements concerning the development of the miner a l 

i n t e r e s t s held by the t r u s t ? 

A. Well, t h i s i s an ongoing — i t could be d a i l y , i t 

could miss a day or so, but i t ' s constant. With t h a t many 

minera l p r o p e r t i e s , you know, we're contacted o f t e n . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Now, there's already been some 

testimony about what's been r e f e r r e d t o as your — as the 

Coates form of o i l and gas lease. Would you e x p l a i n t o the 

Examiner j u s t a b i t of the h i s t o r y and e v o l u t i o n of t h a t 

document? 

A. Sure. Really, the Coates lease form document has 

evolved over many years, w i t h the help of o i l and gas 
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a t t o r n e y s . And we f e l t the need t o do t h a t . A f t e r Mr. 

Coates passed away i n 1972, the company d i d s t a r t l e a s i n g 

h i s minerals, a l i t t l e b i t more than i t used t o be. He 

p r i m a r i l y d i d n ' t lease them as much as he would go ahead 

and p a r t i c i p a t e and d r i l l . 

So a t t h a t p o i n t what we d i d use was a p r i n t e d 

lease form. But what we attached t o i t was a l i s t of 

p r o v i s i o n s , a d d i t i o n a l p r o v i s i o n s , or r i d e r s as th e y ' r e 

known, and as the s i t u a t i o n s occur, the u n f o r t u n a t e 

i n c i d e n t s t h a t would occur i n the day-to-day business of 

working w i t h some o i l companies, some t h a t were 

unscrupulous, these p r o v i s i o n s s t a r t e d t o grow and the 

r i d e r s s t a r t e d t o grow. 

So our lease form, you know, i t r e a l l y d i d n ' t 

make much sense t o have t h i s p r i n t e d lease form t h a t we 

were then t r y i n g t o say, w e l l , n o t w i t h s t a n d i n g what t h i s 

p r o v i s i o n i s i n the p r i n t e d lease form, we want t o change 

t h a t around. And we said t h i s r e a l l y doesn't make sense. 

Why don't we have a t y p e w r i t t e n lease form which w i l l be 

c l e a r f o r a l l p a r t i e s , and i t w i l l not only have numbered 

p r o v i s i o n s but the t i t l e t o the provisions? That way 

everyone can go and say, w e l l , l e t ' s look a t the r o y a l t y 

p r o v i s i o n , l e t ' s look a t t h i s p r o v i s i o n , where everybody i s 

on the same page of what t o expect when they're l e a s i n g the 

Coates mine r a l i n t e r e s t . 
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Q. And what has been the p r a c t i c e , once you've had 

t h a t lease form, what has been the p r a c t i c e of the t r u s t 

concerning m o d i f i c a t i o n s of terms of t h a t p r i n t e d form as a 

r e s u l t of n e g o t i a t i o n s w i t h prospective lessees? 

A. Well, what we request whenever we do f u r n i s h our 

lease form t o a prospective lessee, and i f they do make a 

comment, w e l l , there's some p r o v i s i o n s w i t h your lease form 

t h a t we would l i k e t o discuss w i t h you, we say t h a t ' s f i n e , 

i f you would go ahead and please j u s t submit i t i n w r i t i n g , 

t e l l us which lease forms t h a t you may have a problem w i t h . 

You know, what you need t o understand i s t h a t we 

do have p r o p e r t i e s not j u s t i n New Mexico, we have them i n 

Texas, a s u b s t a n t i a l amount of mineral p r o p e r t i e s , and t h i s 

lease form i s a base lease form, and i t i s t r y i n g t o be 

very thorough t o take care of any matters t h a t could occur. 

So perhaps maybe a company i n New Mexico might 

say, you know, can we work w i t h you on t h i s p r o v i s i o n ? I 

don't know i f i t r e a l l y i s as much of a problem as maybe 

somebody i n Texas might consider i t . 

And we say, sure, l e t us — you know, and we do. 

We have — u n l i k e what might have been p a i n t e d about Coates 

Energy Trust or myself, we are very much cooperative i n 

n e g o t i a t i n g whenever they come t o us and t a l k t o us. I n 

f a c t , I t h i n k the record shows t h a t , e s p e c i a l l y w i t h how 

the n e g o t i a t i o n s went w i t h Mr. Farmer. 
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Like I s a i d — Well, I won't get i n t o t h a t r i g h t 

now. But l i k e I s a i d , the u n d e r l y i n g p o i n t i s , t h a t I want 

t o t r y t o make, i s t h a t we are very cooperative and we w i l l 

t r y and work w i t h the o i l companies on t r y i n g t o come t o an 

acceptable, mutually acceptable lease form. 

Q. And as a r e s u l t , i n f a c t , i n p r a c t i c e have you 

been able t o do t h i s w i t h lessees who over time have 

approached you and have worked w i t h you t o i r o n out any 

issues they have concerning your form? 

A. Exactly. I d i d a quick check before coming here, 

and I n o t i c e d t h a t i n the l a s t probably year and a h a l f 

we've leased f i v e or s i x times, and the only one I looked 

a t were the ones t h a t we've a c t u a l l y leased, they've 

a c t u a l l y d r i l l e d , and there's producing w e l l s . 

So there could be other instances where we've 

leased as w e l l , more than l i k e l y , t h a t we d i d w i t h i n the 

past year and a h a l f , but I j u s t looked a t those. 

And one s p e c i f i c a l l y was i n New Mexico, and i t 

was w i t h VF Petroleum t h a t we mentioned, and they d i d 

contact us and they s a i d , look, we do have some comments 

here, would you consider them? And we s a i d yes. We worked 

back and f o r t h . And i t i s p r i m a r i l y the lease form t h a t 

was sent t o Leonard Resources. 

Q. Okay. And though t h a t operator i s probably i n 

most of your p r o p e r t i e s of New Mexico, i s VF Petroleum, a 
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Midland-based company? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. Now, you have on the witness stand before you, do 

you not, Ms. Green E x h i b i t s 1 through 16 — 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. — i n t h a t packet? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Are those e x h i b i t s copies of documents from the 

records of Coates Energy Trust t h a t are kept i n the 

o r d i n a r y course of business of t h a t company? 

A. Yes, they are. 

Q. And i n the case of t h e i r being copies, are they 

t r u e and c o r r e c t copies of those records? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. Would you, w i t h the help of reference t o 

those e x h i b i t s — and as you r e f e r t o any, please mention 

the e x h i b i t number so the r e p o r t e r w i l l have t h a t and the 

Examiner w i l l have i t — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — describe the n e g o t i a t i o n s concerning l e a s i n g 

and t r u s t acreage t o — i n the northwest q u a r t e r of Section 

2 t h a t i s the subject of t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n . 

A. Okay. E x h i b i t 1, t h i s i s j u s t a piece of paper 

of my handwritten notes, and i t was j u s t showing how the 

n e g o t i a t i o n s commenced on June 24th, 1999. Apparently Mr. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

107 

Farmer c a l l e d , and I returned h i s c a l l and l e f t a message 

f o r him t h a t I d i d c a l l . 

And then we were able t o t a l k on June 28th, 1999. 

At t h a t p o i n t what our usual procedure i s , i s t h a t we l i k e 

t o f i n d out a l i t t l e b i t about the company t h a t we are 

l e a s i n g t o . We f e e l t h a t i t ' s important t h a t we j u s t don't 

lease t o anybody but someone who w i l l — who we b e l i e v e 

w i l l be a responsible and reasonable and prudent operator. 

He d i d e x p l a i n t o me a l i t t l e b i t about him — 

Q. Let me i n t e r r u p t you on t h a t — 

A. Sure. 

Q. — note, since — t h a t you wrote t h a t . Because 

of t h a t , the necessity of having business r e l a t i o n s h i p s 

w i t h somebody who you know i s responsible, does your form 

of lease provide something i n regard t o assignment of the 

lease? 

A. Yes, i t t r i e s t o p r o t e c t us. We f e e l l i k e 

whenever we ne g o t i a t e a lease, we are n e g o t i a t i n g w i t h t h a t 

company t h a t we have t a l k e d t o , t h a t we've t r i e d t o l e a r n a 

l i t t l e b i t about them and t h e i r background. So we do have 

a p r o v i s i o n i n our lease form concerning assignments t h a t 

we say t h a t we would l i k e t o — they w i l l need t o get 

consent from us i n order t o grant assignments. That way we 

can f i n d out who they're assigning you t o . You know, maybe 

they ' r e t i r e d of having t h i s lease, maybe the w e l l i s n ' t 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

108 

producing l i k e they want t o , and they j u s t want t o g i v e i t 

t o anybody, and they r e a l l y don't care what t h a t person 

does w i t h i t . Well, we care because we f e e l l i k e i t ' s on 

our land and i t ' s on our minerals. 

Q. And are there considerable concerns, p a r t i c u l a r l y 

i n t he recent years, concerning environmental c o n d i t i o n s 

t h a t have come t o e x i s t on most estates t h a t might be — 

might e v e n t u a l l y become the r e s p o n s i b i l i t y and l i a b i l i t y of 

the mineral e s t a t e owner? 

A. Oh, e x a c t l y , we have t o be very concerned. So we 

do provide i n our lease form environmental p r o t e c t i o n 

p r o v i s i o n s and also — we f e e l t h a t the operator should be 

responsible f o r the operations t h a t they conduct on these 

minerals. 

Q. Okay. I f y o u ' l l go ahead about your conversation 

w i t h Mr. Farmer on June 28th, 1999. 

A. Okay, our discussion — I d i d ask him a t t h a t 

p o i n t what t h e i r i n t e n t i o n s were, and he went ahead and 

t o l d me i t was p r i m a r i l y o i l and he was t e l l i n g me what 

formations t h a t they wanted t o go t o . 

I also i n q u i r e d i f any seismic had been done or 

i f they planned t o do i t , and a t t h a t p o i n t he s a i d he 

would send a lease proposal. 

Q. Okay, proceed. 

A. Okay, E x h i b i t 2, Mr. Farmer d i d send a lease 
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proposal t o us. And, oh, a t t h a t — Let me step back a 

l i t t l e b i t . On t h a t E x h i b i t 1 I probably d i d i n f o r m him of 

the a d j o i n i n g acreage t h a t Coates also had an i n t e r e s t i n 

t o the n o r t h . 

I n E x h i b i t 2 he does reference t h a t , and besides 

o f f e r i n g basic terms, which i s what, you know, we b a s i c a l l y 

are doing a t t h i s p o i n t , i s j u s t asking f o r basic terms t o 

see i f we can come t o an agreement f o r the basic terms, and 

he d i d , he o f f e r e d basic terms. 

And then he asked about our i n t e r e s t t o the 

n o r t h . We went ahead and r e p l i e d on August 5 t h , 1999 — 

t h a t ' s Trust E x h i b i t Number 3 — and a t t h a t p o i n t we were 

t e l l i n g him we would l i k e t o lease a l l of our acreage t h a t 

we have t h a t ' s a d j o i n i n g , as w e l l as the acreage t h a t he 

had set out i n h i s proposal. And we went ahead and s e t out 

the basic terms t h a t we would be i n t e r e s t e d i n l e a s i n g t o 

them. 

Q. And i n summary, what had he proposed and what 

were you countering a t t h a t time? 

A. Okay, he proposed $200 an acre, a q u a r t e r 

r o y a l t y , t h r e e years payout. We went back a t $350 an acre. 

We had leased t o VF Petroleum a t $300 an acre, so we f e l t 

l i k e we should a t l e a s t s t a r t out a t $350, you know, and 

h o p e f u l l y t h a t we, you know, p o s s i b l y could get t o t h a t . 

We d i d have a delay r e n t a l of $25 per net acre, a 
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two-year term. That i s very customary f o r us, i s t o lease 

f o r two years. Usually other companies are f i n e w i t h t h a t 

and do not have a problem w i t h a two-year lease. 

Royalty, 3 0 percent. We have — At t h a t p o i n t we 

have received 3 0-percent r o y a l t y , and we've received i t , 

you know, p r i m a r i l y i n Texas, but we have received i t . So 

we d e f i n i t e l y wanted t o s t a r t out w i t h t h a t and see i f we 

would be able t o o b t a i n — We weren't f o r sure e x a c t l y what 

the r o y a l t y might be going f o r up t h e r e . I t could p o s s i b l y 

— you know, we weren't f o r sure, but we wanted t o s t a r t 

out on the terms t h a t we have been r e c e i v i n g , and they were 

around $350 an acre w i t h a 30-percent r o y a l t y . 

Also, the depths we were asking t h a t i t be 

l i m i t e d t o , we sai d we are w i l l i n g — we are always w i l l i n g 

t o g i v e down t o the depth t h a t they are i n t e r e s t e d i n 

d r i l l i n g t o . I t i s our p o l i c y not j u s t t o gi v e a lease as 

t o a l l depths because we f e e l l i k e , w e l l , maybe these — 

t h i s company, they're only i n t e r e s t e d down t o 6800. Well, 

we may have somebody else t h a t ' s i n t e r e s t e d i n 11,000, 

12,000, and they have no i n t e r e s t a t a l l , maybe, have no 

d e s i r e or the c a p a b i l i t i e s or whatever t o d r i l l t h a t depth. 

We f e e l l i k e i t ' s i n our best i n t e r e s t not t o t i e up those 

depths, whether i t be f o r 3 0 months, th r e e years or 

whatever. 

Q. Go ahead, the next e x h i b i t ? 

STEVEN T. 
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A. The next e x h i b i t i s the Trust E x h i b i t Number 4, 

and t h i s was a counter from Mr. Farmer. And what I r e c a l l 

between — j u s t as a comment, my n e g o t i a t i o n s w i t h Mr. 

Farmer, th e r e was never any unpleasantness between us. I 

mean, i t was good, healthy n e g o t i a t i o n s going back and 

f o r t h , and I t h i n k the record w i l l show t h a t . 

This E x h i b i t 4, he i s t r y i n g t o make a 

c o u n t e r o f f e r , so he's going t o $250. So he s t a r t e d a t 

$200, we went back, I t h i n k , w i t h $300, and now he's going 

t o $250. So we're you know, v o l l e y i n g on the bonus. They 

r e a l l y s a i d l e t ' s make i t a paid-up lease, term 30 months, 

r o y a l t y 25 percent, earn t o the t o t a l depth, the captioned 

acreage only. So a t t h a t p o i n t he's l e t t i n g me know t h a t 

he's r e a l l y only i n t e r e s t e d i n t h a t one qu a r t e r s e c t i o n . 

What you're seeing handwritten on t h e r e were my 

notes a f t e r t a l k i n g t o the t r u s t e e s and di s c u s s i n g what we 

f e l t l i k e would be f a i r t o make us a c o u n t e r o f f e r t o t h i s 

o f f e r . And t h a t ' s what y o u ' l l see on Trust E x h i b i t Number 

5. 

Q. I s i t f a i r t o say a t t h i s p o i n t the n e g o t i a t i o n s 

were going on as one would expect i f the p a r t i e s were 

t r y i n g t o a r r i v e a t an agreement, which i s t o say each of 

you were responding on a t i m e l y basis w i t h i n a couple of 

weeks? 

A. Right, they were — You know, l i k e I s a i d , t h i s 
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was continuous. And l i k e I s t a t e d , I don't r e c a l l t h a t 

t h e r e was ever any type of unpleasantness between the 

conversations between me and Mr. Farmer. 

One p o i n t also. As you w i l l note on — and they 

have brought i t up also — on the end of our 

counterproposals, a t the end of the l e t t e r we do s t a t e — 

and the time — the reason why we put a time l i m i t i s t h a t 

we l i k e i t t o be going, you know, t h a t we hear from each 

other r e l a t i v e l y soon, t h a t there's not l a r g e gaps of time. 

I t r e a l l y i s n ' t t o say, at t h i s p o i n t i f we don't hear from 

you e v e r y t h i n g i s o f f . 

The l a s t sentence addresses t h a t , and i t ' s f o r 

both sides. I t ' s not j u s t saying — Coates i s saying t h a t 

we can back out of t h i s anytime we want. I t ' s f o r both 

p a r t i e s , f o r any reason, i f i t ' s not executed. So you 

know, we were t r y i n g t o be f a i r about t h a t . 

We would j u s t l i k e t o have a time i n t h e r e t o be 

able t o keep i t going where th e r e i s some type of 

communication, w i l l we know i f they're s t i l l i n t e r e s t e d ? 

That was August 2 3rd. 

Q. Okay. I t h i n k you went back w i t h your 

counterproposal a t t h a t time? 

A. Right. 

Q. Okay. 

A. Okay, then we — E x h i b i t 6 i s a September 9th 
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counterproposal. And t h i s seemed l i k e we were going 

backwards, i t seemed l i k e — The bonus, they went down t o 

$150. And then they s a i d , a l l r i g h t , but w e ' l l g i v e you $5 

per net mineral acre delay r e n t a l and a term of two years. 

I guess they f e l t l i k e i f they were going two years t h e y ' l l 

o nly pay us $150. Royalty they s t i l l d i d n ' t want t o go up 

on. They d i d say, a l l r i g h t , w e ' l l l i m i t i t t o 7000 f e e t . 

But then they wanted an o p t i o n t o renew, which r e a l l y — 

you know, t h a t ' s t a k i n g as another year t h a t b a s i c a l l y 

you're t y i n g y o u r s e l f t o . The Pugh clause, and they were 

t a l k i n g about a continuous development. 

How Coates looks a t i t i s , whenever we're going 

back and f o r t h i n n e g o t i a t i o n s , we're l o o k i n g a t basic 

terms, what we consider basic terms t o be, bonus, delay 

r e n t a l , term, r o y a l t y and depth and acreage. As f a r as the 

other goes about the continuous development or anything 

e l s e , we f e e l l i k e — our lease form w i l l address t h a t , and 

w e ' l l discuss i t l a t e r on — something l i k e as simple as 

continuous development of 18 0 days, we've done i t many 

times, you know. Yes, our lease form may say 90 days, but 

we're very w i l l i n g t o — Let's meet halfway, or l e t ' s see 

what we can work out. 

So a t t h a t p o i n t , l e t ' s see — 

Q. I s t h e r e a mention i n here of Mr. Farmer's l e t t e r 

about a copy of your lease form? 
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A. Well, i n t h i s s p e c i f i c l e t t e r a t the end i t says, 

I f t h i s o f f e r i s acceptable please fax me a copy of your 

lease form. I t h i n k Mr. Farmer and I had an understanding 

e a r l y on i n the n e g o t i a t i o n s when he f i r s t c a l l e d me. 

And I sa i d , Look, t h i s i s what our usual p o l i c y 

i s . We would l i k e t o be able t o come t o basic terms 

agreement. At t h a t time t h a t we do reach an agreement on 

the basic terms we w i l l be happy t o f u r n i s h you a copy of 

our lease form. We've spent a l o t of time and expense on 

developing t h i s lease form, and i f we have somebody who 

t r u l y i s n ' t i n t e r e s t e d i n n e g o t i a t i n g i n good f a i t h and 

t h a t , we r e a l l y j u s t don't want t o send t h a t out. We want 

t o make sure t h a t we've agreed a t l e a s t on the basic lease 

terms. 

And we hope and we be l i e v e t h a t Mr. Farmer, 

whenever he accepted, January 14th, t h a t he s a i d , Yes, 

we're accepting these basic lease terms — I am hoping t h a t 

t h a t was i n good f a i t h and not j u s t t o re c e i v e a copy of 

our lease. But I am t a k i n g i t face value t h a t I'm sure 

t h a t how our n e g o t i a t i o n s were going, t h a t i t was i n good 

f a i t h . 

And a t the end of h i s fax on h i s l e t t e r whenever 

he s a i d , Yes, I agree t o these terms — I guess I'm moving 

ahead a l i t t l e b i t before we get t o t h a t p a r t — 

Q. That's a l l r i g h t . 
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A. — but he made the comment, you know, Yes, we 

accept these basic terms; now l e t ' s work on the lease. I t 

wasn't l i k e t h a t he wasn't expecting t h a t we wouldn't work 

on the lease and, oh, we're going t o change these basic 

terms. You know, he im p l i e d l e t ' s work on the lease. But 

l i k e I s a i d , I'm moving ahead of myself on t h a t . 

Q. Okay, l e t ' s j u s t go t o E x h i b i t 7, then. 

A. Okay, E x h i b i t 7 was a c o u n t e r o f f e r , and you can 

see we're s t i l l going back and f o r t h f o r the bonus. The 

bonus, here we're saying l e t ' s go $275. Two years paid-up. 

We j u s t s a i d , A l l r i g h t , Coates w i l l r e l i n q u i s h and not, 

you know, r e q u i r e the r e n t a l anymore. We were s t i l l t r y i n g 

t o get a l i t t l e b i t more than a quarter r o y a l t y . Surface 

t o 7000 f e e t , we s t i l l wanted i t the depth t o what they 

were i n t e r e s t e d i n l e a s i n g t o , we don't have a problem w i t h 

t h a t . The acreage, t h a t ' s f i n e , they only wanted 160 

acres. 

Again, we have our p r o v i s i o n a t the end, you 

know, we're not t r y i n g t o say i t ' s j u s t one-sided. We have 

our p r o v i s i o n t h a t i f i t ' s not executed, a b i n d i n g 

agreement, t h a t no p a r t y has any l i a b i l i t y . 

Okay, then E x h i b i t 8, i t ' s a note t h a t I wrote 

concerning a conversation t h a t I had w i t h Glen Farmer i n 

October, and t h a t was — l e t ' s see. My l a s t 

counterproposal t o him was October 6th, and he r e t u r n e d the 
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c a l l October 11th. And i t says I "Spoke t o Glen Farmer. 

He spoke t o Leonard l a s t week and they wanted t o pass on 

our terms a t t h i s time. I asked i f they wanted t o submit a 

counterproposal of perhaps $2 2 5 an acre. He s a i d he would 

t a l k t o Mr. Leonard and ask." 

I t h i n k t h a t proves t h a t we're d e f i n i t e l y t r y i n g 

t o work out a lease here. I was not t r y i n g t o — or Coates 

was not t r y i n g t o be unreasonable. This i s what we have t o 

have. I n f a c t , I was even o f f e r i n g , a f t e r they were saying 

Leonard doesn't want t o do i t , Well, how about going back? 

The l a s t time i n my l a s t proposal was $275, how about $225. 

Q. Okay, so j u s t t o get t h i s c l e a r , the way you read 

t h a t i t might not have been c l e a r , but what — he was 

t e l l i n g you t h a t they wanted t o pass on our terms, he was 

b a s i c a l l y saying — 

A. — they weren't i n t e r e s t e d . 

Q. — they weren't i n t e r e s t e d . But your e f f o r t , 

then, was t o keep the n e g o t i a t i o n s a l i v e ? 

A. To keep the n e g o t i a t i o n s going, r i g h t ? 

Q. Okay. 

A. Okay? 

Q. So what d i d you do i n order t o do t h a t ? 

A. Okay, w e l l then we go t o Coates T r u s t E x h i b i t 

Number 9. My note t h a t we j u s t discussed, t h a t was October 

11th. 
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And about a month and a h a l f l a t e r Glen Farmer 

c a l l e d me. And he s a i d , Well, we have a new proposal. We 

would l i k e t o o f f e r you $250 an acre, a q u a r t e r r o y a l t y , 

two years, depths zero t o 7900 and an a f t e r payout t o 27 

1/2 percent, and he s a i d he would submit the o f f e r i n 

w r i t i n g . Those were the terms t h a t he s t a t e d . 

Trust E x h i b i t Number 10 — 

Q. How d i d t h a t look t o you a t t h a t time — 

A. That looked good. My f i r s t r e a c t i o n , t h a t ' s 

good. I f e l t l i k e the t r u s t e e s would accept t h a t . 

Coates Trust E x h i b i t Number 10, t h a t ' s a l e t t e r 

from Mr. Farmer, and t h a t was i n response t o our telephone 

conversation. And he d i d set out the $250 bonus, the two 

years paid-up, the 25 percent before payout, the 27 1/2 

percent a f t e r payout, w e l l - b y - w e l l basis, surface down t o 

7900, acreage 160. Pugh clause, Lessee earns t o the t o t a l 

depth d r i l l e d ; continuous development 18 0 days between 

w e l l s a f t e r end of primary term, w i t h the o p t i o n t o renew 

again. 

Coates Trust E x h i b i t Number 11. I t h i n k a t t h a t 

p o i n t we s a i d l e t ' s look back, and t h i s i s my h a n d w r i t i n g , 

and I s a i d l e t me look back and see how we've been 

n e g o t i a t i n g back and f o r t h , a l l the way from the beginning. 

I'm sure I d i d t h i s i n order t o present t h i s t o the 

Trustees. I do have a n o t a t i o n up a t the t o p , you know, we 
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t r y and look around sometime and t r y t o o b t a i n a l i t t l e b i t 

of i n f o r m a t i o n of what maybe the area might have been 

l e a s i n g f o r . 

And I had a n o t a t i o n — somewhere I must have 

checked and sa i d i n 1982 i t was l e a s i n g f o r $150. So I 

thought, w e l l , i f we can come t o $250, which i s what we 

were going a t , I t h i n k t h a t sounds f a i r . I t s t a r t s — I t 

j u s t shows a c h r o n o l o g i c a l h i s t o r y of the n e g o t i a t i o n s , 

s t a r t i n g back i n June, a l l the way t o the l a s t one t h a t Mr. 

Farmer sent t o us. And a t t h a t p o i n t whatever you see 

c i r c l e d means t h a t the t r u s t e e was saying t h a t 1 s 

acceptable. 

As f a r as the o p t i o n t o renew f o r the a d d i t i o n a l 

year a t $150, we're not i n t e r e s t e d i n doing t h a t . You 

know, we f e e l l i k e two years i s s u f f i c i e n t time t o lease t o 

an o i l company. 

As f a r as the continuous development, i t wasn't 

even addressed. Again, l i k e I s a i d , i n our mind t h a t ' s 

p a r t of the lease form t h a t w e ' l l t a l k about whenever we 

get t o t h a t p o i n t . 

E x h i b i t 12 i s a l e t t e r , i s the counterproposal, 

January 13th, 2000, t o Mr. Farmer. And b a s i c a l l y i t was 

s e t t i n g out the $250 t h a t he o f f e r e d , the two years p a i d -

up, the r o y a l t y t h a t he o f f e r e d , the depths t h a t he 

o f f e r e d , the acreage t h a t he wanted i t t o be on. And 
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again, we s t i l l have our l a s t p r o v i s i o n t h a t b a s i c a l l y says 

j u s t l e t us know by t h i s time. Again, n e i t h e r p a r t y i s 

going t o be held l i a b l e i f t h i s does not get executed. 

Q. Were you not o f f e r i n g the same terms, same basic 

terms, t h a t he o f f e r e d i n h i s December 1, 1999, l e t t e r ? 

A. Yes, yes. 

Q. Okay. 

A. Okay, and then Coates Trust E x h i b i t Number 13, 

t h i s i s when Mr. Farmer — he sent back on my fax 

t r a n s m i t t a l of the lease — I mean, excuse me, of t h a t l a s t 

counterproposal, he sent back a note t o me, t o She r r i e 

Green from Glen E. Farmer: "Sherrie, we agree t o the 

f o l l o w i n g basic terms. Please fax me your lease form so 

t h a t we can work out the r e s t of the lease. Glen". 

And he attached — 

Q. Now, l e t me i n t e r r u p t you. 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Not only here, but a t any time i n the 

communications, instead of Mr. Farmer saying send us your 

lease form so we can work i t out, d i d he i n d i c a t e t o you, 

no, we're going t o use our lease form — 

A. Never. 

Q. — f o r t h i s — 

A. Never. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 
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A. Never. 

Q. So what d i d you do as a r e s u l t of h i s — 

A. Well, t h a t same day — 

Q. — January 14th fax? 

A. — t h a t same day I responded, and I went ahead 

and I s a i d we received your — Excuse me, t h i s i s Tr u s t 

E x h i b i t Number 14. And we went ahead and s a i d , we received 

your fax message, and accordingly here i s the lease form. 

And i t does s t a t e t h a t changes would have t o be made t o 

r e f l e c t the agreed-upon terms. For example, i f we would 

only agree t o a one-year term we would have had t o take out 

the r e n t a l clause. But i n t h i s case, you know, t h a t i s not 

the case. 

Also t h a t we would have t o c o r r e c t any references 

t o t he State of New Mexico instead of Texas. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Now, up t o t h i s p o i n t i s i t f a i r t o 

say n e g o t i a t i o n s had been moving along the way you would 

normally expect and what you normally have seen i n p r a c t i c e 

on these k i n d of matters? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And then what happened? 

A. Okay, t h a t was January 14th. E x h i b i t — See i f I 

can f i n d the next e x h i b i t . 

Q. January 14th of the year 2 000, c o r r e c t ? 

A. Right, year 2000. Then we go t o Coates T r u s t 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

121 

E x h i b i t Number 15. 

Q. So are you t e l l i n g us t h a t between January 14th, 

your l e t t e r , and June — or sometime a f t e r June 26th, 2000, 

you heard nothing from Leonard Resource? 

A. Right. And i n t h i s l e t t e r of June 2 6th when we 

received i t — and I know t h a t we've already read p a r t s of 

i t f o r the Examiners, but i t ' s b a s i c a l l y k i n d of saying — 

This i s the f i r s t time we've heard from Leonard Resource. 

A l l t he n e g o t i a t i o n s have been through Mr. Farmer, and I 

guess i t ' s because, as he's explained t h a t Mr. Farmer had 

r e t i r e d . And i t j u s t sets out how Glenn Farmer and Sherrie 

Green had been i n n e g o t i a t i o n s . 

Then they put, "Under cover l e t t e r dated January 

13th, 2 000, Ms. Green provided us w i t h a counter proposal 

and a copy of the Coates lease form f o r review. A f t e r 

c a r e f u l c o n s i d e r a t i o n of both the counter proposal and your 

lease form, we are unable t o accept e i t h e r . " 

When I f i r s t read t h a t I s a i d , Now w a i t a minute. 

To me, he's imp l y i n g t h a t they never accepted those basic 

lease forms, and whenever I responded i n the f o l l o w i n g 

e x h i b i t I d i d t r y and c o r r e c t t h a t . I t d i d n ' t mean t h a t we 

were saying a t t h i s p o i n t we're h o l d i n g you s t i l l t o i t , 

but t o me i t i m p l i e d t h a t we never agreed upon those, and I 

f e l t l i k e t h a t wasn't r i g h t . 

He does go i n t o — t o say, l i k e I s a i d , t h a t he 
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explained e a r l i e r about the lease form. He doesn't go i n t o 

anything s p e c i f i c , he j u s t says r o y a l t i e s . He i s r i g h t , 

you know, we do have — i t ' s not j u s t a one-sentence 

r o y a l t y p r o v i s i o n l i k e f o r o i l , i t i s d i f f e r e n t . I t i s n ' t 

j u s t a small one paragraph, i t i s a l i t t l e b i t more. But 

we have leased t o many companies t h a t have accepted t h a t 

lease form w i t h t h a t r o y a l t y p r o v i s i o n , and we have made 

m o d i f i c a t i o n s where i t ' s necessary. 

And you know, I was expecting t o hear from him of 

what he r e a l l y d i d n ' t l i k e about i t or i f t h e r e was a 

c e r t a i n p a r t . You know, i t ' s not usual t h a t somebody says, 

I don't a l l of t h a t . You know, I'm expecting him t o say, 

w e l l , here, maybe t h i s p r o v i s i o n . 

Q. Please l e t me d i r e c t your a t t e n t i o n t o t h e l a s t 

f u l l paragraph on the second page, and what d i d you 

understand t o be the message t h a t was being conveyed by Mr. 

Leonard? 

A. Well, how I took t h i s l a s t paragraph, i t was 

p r e t t y much, t h i s i s our lease form, take i t or leave i t . 

" I f those terms and form of lease we propose are 

unacceptable, then we w i l l be happy t o submit an AFE f o r 

your c o n s i d e r a t i o n once we are ready t o d r i l l on your 

acreage, so t h a t you may j o i n w i t h your 2 5% i n t e r e s t i n 

d r i l l i n g a proposed t e s t w e l l . " 

Which lease form i s — He may say t h a t he has 
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acquired 300 lease forms l i k e t h i s , and i f t h a t ' s the case 

then I f e e l s o r r y f o r the land owners t h a t have signed 

t h i s , because I f e e l l i k e i t i s an extremely poor lease 

form. I t ' s very ambiguous, i t ' s very broad, i t ' s very 

vague and i t gives them almost u n l i m i t e d power on how they 

can — and i t ' s very slanted. Just a comment, Producer's 

88: That's r i g h t , i t i s f o r the producer. I t ' s d e f i n i t e l y 

not f o r the p r o t e c t i o n of any r i g h t s f o r the r o y a l t y 

owners. 

Q. I n s p i t e of the delay of almost s i x months and 

Mr. Leonard's l a s t paragraph, Ms. Green, d i d you 

nonetheless attempt t o keep the n e g o t i a t i o n s a l i v e ? 

A. Yes. I t h i n k I have i t on here, or do I? Oh, 

yes, I do. 

Q. I t should be E x h i b i t 16. 

A. Right. Yes, excuse me. Yeah, t h a t ' s r i g h t . His 

l e t t e r was June 26th. 

So I sent another l e t t e r J u l y 17th, and t h i s i s 

the one t h a t I had made some comments on — t h i s i s Coates 

T r u s t E x h i b i t Number 16 — where I s a i d , Yes, we've 

received t h i s l e t t e r . And l i k e T had commented e a r l i e r , I 

wanted t o c o r r e c t t h a t I f e l t l i k e we indeed a t one p o i n t 

d i d agree on those basic terms. Not t o say t h a t we're 

s t i l l bound by them or they're s t i l l bound by them, but 

t h e r e was an agreement a t one p o i n t on t h a t . 
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And then I do go on t o say, I don't t h i n k i t ' s i n 

our best i n t e r e s t t o accept the lease form t h a t he 

attached. And I agreed. 

And he mentions t h a t our lease form i s 19. Well, 

t h e i r lease form i s two and a quarter pages. And something 

as important as le a s i n g a mineral i n t e r e s t , t here's l o t s of 

ground t o be covered, l o t s of area t o be covered and not 

j u s t something t h a t j u s t says, look a t us, we're going t o 

do good, t r u s t us. We know i n today's c l i m a t e w i t h a l l the 

l i t i g a t i o n t h a t i s going on, t h a t i s not the case. 

I f e e l l i k e a l o t of the landowners t h a t lease 

under those lease forms probably are u n s o p h i s t i c a t e d , and 

they don't have the resources. And they b e l i e v e them 

whenever they f e e l l i k e , oh, good — and they probably have 

a very small i n t e r e s t , not a quarter r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t , as 

Coates does here, and they probably want t o b e l i e v e , oh, 

good, maybe w e ' l l get some k i n d of money. I t ' s not going 

t o be very much, we have a small i n t e r e s t , why not s i g n 

t h i s ? I t ' s not worth the expense. And we want t o b e l i e v e 

t h a t t h i s o i l company i s going t o do r i g h t t o us. They 

want t o b e l i e v e t h a t , but t h a t ' s not the case i n today's 

environment. 

Q. Okay. And d i d you i n t h i s l e t t e r convey t o Mr. 

Leonard t h a t you wanted t o know what p r o v i s i o n s of your 

lease form were unacceptable and t h a t you would t r y and 
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work out reasonable s o l u t i o n s t o those things? 

A. Exactly, I was s t i l l t r y i n g t o keep the 

n e g o t i a t i o n s going. We had r e a l l y been going s t r o n g , 

myself and Mr. Farmer, f o r s i x months. A l l of a sudden we 

d i d n ' t hear anything. He's coming back and saying t h i s , 

t h a t he does not want t o accept our lease form, b a s i c a l l y 

saying, here, i t ' s e i t h e r our lease form or we're j u s t 

going t o — You know, t h a t was the a t t i t u d e t h a t I got. 

I t h i n k he's implying t h a t there's a l o t of — 

t h a t I'm being argumentative f o r t h a t , but I t h i n k h i s 

a t t i t u d e was more of a take i t or leave i t , I ' 1 1 go and 

I ' l l get p r o t e c t i o n from the D i v i s i o n and they w i l l f o r c e 

pool you, too bad. And I don't f e e l l i k e t h a t ' s r i g h t . 

Q. Yeah, I see a note down — handwritten note on 

the f i r s t page of t h i s J u l y 17, 2000, l e t t e r , E x h i b i t 16. 

Would you e x p l a i n t h a t ? 

A. Well, r i g h t . We — A f t e r a c e r t a i n amount of 

time, t h a t was J u l y 17th t h a t I d i d w r i t e and ask him. I 

asked him one of two t h i n g s , i f he could please l e t us know 

what language t h a t he found unacceptable i n the Coates 

lease form and t h a t we would take those — any requested 

changes i n t o c o n s i d e r a t i o n i f they're reasonable. We do i t 

a l l the time. 

I also asked him — You know, he's saying t h a t 

he's reading t h i s t o mean t h a t we r e a l l y don't want him t o 
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do t h a t , we r e a l l y don't want t o leave. I f e e l l i k e t h a t ' s 

pure s p e c u l a t i o n on h i s p a r t . We — That i s probably what 

we r e a l l y want t o do. Like I explained, we would p r e f e r t o 

do t h a t , than t o — we're not i n t o having any working 

i n t e r e s t s , nor do we operate any w e l l s . So we would p r e f e r 

t o lease. But i f he's going t o — 

Q. What I was asking — I was asking you about the 

p a r t handwritten on the f i r s t page t h e r e . 

A. Right, "No response", "9/11/00 No response". So 

a t t h a t p o i n t we hadn't heard anything from him — 

Q. B a s i c a l l y , you — 

A. — i n t h a t given amount of time. 

Q. — you f i g u r e a t t h a t time i t ' s a closed matter? 

A. Right, t h a t he has not contacted us, t h a t he i s 

not i n t e r e s t e d . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . Was the next t h i n g t h a t you heard 

concerning Leonard Resources and t h i s p a r t i c u l a r acreage a 

n o t i f i c a t i o n from Mr. Bruce t h a t — of an a p p l i c a t i o n f o r 

f o r c e p o o l i n g your acreage, which would have been — which 

would have a r r i v e d over a year a f t e r the l a s t 

communication? 

A. Right. 

Q. Now, i n E x h i b i t 3B there i s a l e t t e r t h a t Mr. 

Leonard r e f e r r e d t o dated i n J u l y of t h i s year. Do you see 

t h a t ? 
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A. Yes, I do. 

Q. I s t h a t l e t t e r i n your f i l e ? 

A. No, i t i s not. 

Q. Did you receive t h a t l e t t e r , as f a r as — 

A. Not t h a t I'm aware of. Whenever i t was f i r s t 

brought t o l i g h t over t h e r e , t h a t ' s the f i r s t t h i n g I sa i d , 

I've never seen t h i s l e t t e r . 

Q. Did you receive a l l communications otherwise t h a t 

were sent t o you by Glen Farmer and by Dan Leonard? 

A. Yes. 

MR. GALLEGOS: That's a l l the questions, I pass 

the witness. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay, Mr. Bruce? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Ms. Green, l e t ' s j u s t go down your e x h i b i t p i l e 

here. C e r t a i n l y e a r l y on i n June you knew t h a t Leonard 

Resource Investment Corporation was the p a r t y seeking the 

lease, d i d you not? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And going on t o your E x h i b i t 3, where I 

be l i e v e — I don't know i f t h i s i s an o f f e r or a 

c o u n t e r o f f e r , but when you mentioned the terms t h a t you 

p r e f e r down a t the bottom, you say i t ' s " s u b j e c t t o 

Leonard's acceptance of the Coates lease form", d i d you 
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not? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. And Coates — or, excuse me — yeah, Coates 

hadn't sent t h a t lease form t o Leonard, had i t ? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. So Leonard had no idea what was i n the lease 

form? 

A. No, I explained t o Mr. Farmer e a r l y i n the very 

beginning of our n e g o t i a t i o n s t h a t Coates would supply a 

lease form once we agreed t o basic terms. We were agreeing 

t o these basic terms, bonus, r e n t a l , term and r o y a l t y and 

depth. 

Q. And then i f you move on t o your E x h i b i t 5, 

another c o u n t e r o f f e r , you say the same t h i n g , " s u b j e c t t o 

Leonard's acceptance of the Coates lease form..." Again, 

Leonard d i d n ' t have t h a t lease form t o — Leonard Resource 

d i d not have t h a t lease form t o review, d i d they 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. And E x h i b i t 6, Mr. Farmer d i d request a copy of 

the lease form f o r review, d i d he not? 

A. I f our o f f e r i s acceptable, and i t was not 

acceptable. 

Q. Okay, and then E x h i b i t 7, the next c o u n t e r o f f e r , 

"subject t o Leonard's acceptance of the Coates lease 

form..." You d i d n ' t send Coates — Coates d i d not send 
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Leonard Resource a lease form, d i d i t ? 

A. No, i t d i d not, as Mr. Farmer understood. 

Q. Now l e t ' s move on t o your E x h i b i t 10. There's 

sev e r a l terms — Let's go t o E x h i b i t 10 and 11 t o g e t h e r , 

Ms. Green. 

A. Okay. 

Q. A couple of t h i n g s . Mr. Farmer proposed a 180-

day continuous development o b l i g a t i o n , and surface down t o 

and i n c l u d i n g 7900 f e e t . Now, I b e l i e v e you t e s t i f i e d t h a t 

E x h i b i t 11 i s — That's your handwritten notes on the 

n e g o t i a t i o n s ; i s t h a t correct? 

A. Right. 

Q. So down th e r e a t 12-1-99 you agreed t o surface t o 

7000, t h i s says, earning t o depth d r i l l e d ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That's what he had o f f e r e d . 

Q. Well, I mean, what does t h a t "OK" mean over 

there? 

A. Okay, w e l l , what we okay'd was the 2 50, the two 

years, the 25, 2 7 1/2 percent a f t e r payout. This was my 

own notes. And I probably — Now t h a t I'm l o o k i n g a t i t , I 

put 7000 instead of 7900. I was j u s t t r y i n g t o put 

verbatim what he had — 

Q. Okay — 

A. — okay? — 

Q. — but — 
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A. — but as f a r as what i s set out and what — the 

t r u s t e e s a i d okay, even though i t says "OK" here, what was 

put i n the l e t t e r of January 13th i s what the c o u n t e r o f f e r 

was. 

Q. But doesn't t h i s "OK" say "earn t o depth 

d r i l l e d " ? I t was c i r c l e d — 

A. Well — 

Q. — w i t h the "OK". 

A. — apparently I d i d n ' t c i r c l e — I shouldn't have 

c i r c l e d t h a t bottom p a r t , i s what I'm saying. These were 

my notes, j u s t t o t r y and rehash what they put. But what 

r e a l l y was the o f f e r , what was a c t u a l l y made t o Leonard, i s 

on page — i s E x h i b i t 12. 

I n f a c t , i f you w i l l n o t i c e , I put surface down 

t o 7900 f e e t i nstead of p u t t i n g 7000, which I s a i d was okay 

on here. So t h a t was j u s t , l i k e I s a i d , my own personal 

notes. 

Q. And then your l e t t e r , the next e x h i b i t , E x h i b i t 

12, the January 13th l e t t e r , once again i t says, "subject 

t o Leonard's acceptance of the Coates lease form..." 

Correct? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. And i t also says i n the l a s t paragraph t h a t 

n e i t h e r p a r t y " w i l l have any l i a b i l i t y t o the other i n the 

event a b i n d i n g o i l and gas lease i s not executed f o r any 
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reason." I s t h a t correct? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Then f i n a l l y , l e t ' s move t o your E x h i b i t 14. 

That's when you provided the lease form? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And now i n the December 1 l e t t e r from Mr. Farmer, 

he t a l k s about a 180-day continuous development o b l i g a t i o n . 

That's E x h i b i t 10. Your E x h i b i t 13 doesn't say anything 

about the continuous development p r o v i s i o n , does i t ? 

A. 13, you say? 

Q. E x h i b i t 12, E x h i b i t 12 does not say anything 

about the continuous development — 

A. No, t h i s was our c o u n t e r o f f e r . 

Q. Okay. 

A. I t does not address the 180 days continuous 

development — 

Q. And then — 

A. — or the o p t i o n — 

Q. But the lease — 

A. — t o renew. 

Q. — but the lease form has a 90-day continuous 

development o b l i g a t i o n ? 

A. Right. Like I explained e a r l i e r , we consider 

t h a t t h a t ' s something t h a t ' s not a basic term t h a t we're 

di s c u s s i n g back and f o r t h i n c o u n t e r o f f e r s . That's why 
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we've never mentioned i t but why we do have i t i n our lease 

form. 

Q. Now, on your E x h i b i t 11 you c i r c l e d and s a i d "OK, 

earn t o depth d r i l l e d " . That's not what the lease provides 

f o r , does i t ? 

A. And I explained t h a t t o you j u s t a minute ago. 

These were my own personal notes. 

I f I t r y t o s t a t e again, i t was even i n c o r r e c t as 

t o surface t o 7000. The counterproposal t h a t was a c t u a l l y 

made i s on January 13th, 2000, where I do say, yes, you get 

surface t o 7900. As I explained, I d i d — I i n c o r r e c t l y , 

apparently d i d not — I should have only, you know, c i r c l e d 

t h a t . These are my own personal notes, what was not 

o f f e r e d . 

Q. And the lease only provides f o r surface t o bottom 

p e r f o r a t i o n s i n the w e l l , does i t not? 

A. Correct. And I b e l i e v e , i f you look a t the 

l e t t e r t h a t you have i n your e x h i b i t s , t h a t i t was from Mr. 

Farmer t o Mr. Leonard, he explained t h a t . He s a i d Coates 

says they w i l l , i n t h e i r lease form, have i t where i t ' s 

down t o the producing depth, not t o TD. 

Q. And then f i n a l l y your E x h i b i t 16, a t the end of 

t h a t l e t t e r you again say no p a r t y " w i l l have any l i a b i l i t y 

t o the other i n the event a b i n d i n g o i l and gas l e a s e . . . i s 

not executed f o r any reason." I s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 
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A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. No agreement was ever executed, was i t ? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. And you're not any o b l i g a t i o n t o accept the lease 

form of Leonard Resource, are you? 

A. No. 

Q. And Leonard Resource i s n ' t o b l i g a t e d t o accept 

your lease form? 

A. No. 

Q. And i n t h a t f i n a l l e t t e r you s a i d , you know, show 

us the geology and a JOA and we might consider j o i n i n g . 

A. Which l e t t e r are you t a l k i n g about? 

Q. The f i n a l . 

A. Oh. 

Q. E x h i b i t 16. 

A. Right. And you know, t h a t was the l a s t 

correspondence t h a t we heard. And i n my o p i n i o n , i f r e a l l y 

n e g o t i a t i o n s were going on — I know Mr. Leonard explained 

t h a t he d i d n ' t have t h a t i n f o r m a t i o n ready, but i t looks 

l i k e j u s t a simple note back. You know, we're s t i l l 

i n t e r e s t e d i n n e g o t i a t i n g w i t h Coates. We don't have t h i s 

a t t h i s p o i n t , but some time i n the f u t u r e w e ' l l get back 

w i t h you. But we never received anything l i k e t h a t . 

Q. Now, regarding the proposal l e t t e r , p a r t of our 

E x h i b i t 3B, J u l y 27th, 2001, i s i t p o s s i b l e i t could have 
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been misplaced i n your o f f i c e ? 

A. Anything i s p o s s i b l e , but I'm t e l l i n g you I d i d 

not see i t , nor i s i t i n my — i n our f i l e s . 

Q. Okay. 

A. I s there any way po s s i b l y i t could have been sent 

c e r t i f i e d or faxed from Mr. Leonard? 

MR. BRUCE: That's a l l I have, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Mr. Gallegos? 

MR. GALLEGOS: No f u r t h e r questions. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: I don't have any questions f o r 

t h i s witness. 

Mr. Stogner? 

EXAMINER STOGNER: (Shakes head) 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Okay, do you have anything 

f u r t h e r , Mr. Gallegos? 

MR. GALLEGOS: Nothing f u r t h e r , thank you. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: The witness may stand down. 

Do you want t o make a c l o s i n g statement, Mr. 

Bruce? 

MR. GALLEGOS: Do you want t o make a c l o s i n g 

statement, w r i t t e n or o r a l , Mr. Gallegos? 

MR. GALLEGOS: I don't t h i n k so, no. We'll leave 

i t t o the sound judgment of the c o u r t . 

MR. BRUCE: I would j u s t — very — very b r i e f — 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Go ahead. 
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MR. BRUCE: — Mr. Examiner. The p a r t i e s agree 

there's no lease form. Since t h e r e i s n ' t , they n e g o t i a t e d 

f o r a w h i l e . 

And r e a l l y under the s t a t u t e s and under the 

D i v i s i o n ' s i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of the s t a t u t e s , a l l t h a t was 

re q u i r e d was t o send out an AFE and a proposal l e t t e r . 

Leonard Resource d i d t h a t . The p a r t i e s haven't agreed, I 

t h i n k i t ' s cut and d r i e d . They ought t o be f o r c e pooled. 

MR. GALLEGOS: Well, yeah, I would l i k e t o 

respond. I don't t h i n k a part y ' s mineral i n t e r e s t should 

be e x p r o p r i a t e d on the basis of f a i l u r e t o agree when 

there' s been no good f a i t h e f f o r t on the p a r t of t h e 

pros p e c t i v e lessee t o make such an agreement. C l e a r l y what 

has been o f f e r e d by the lessee, p a r t i c u l a r l y i n terms of a 

lease, i s t o t a l l y unacceptable, and no p a r t y should be 

e n t i t l e d t o give up valuable mineral i n t e r e s t on t h a t 

b asis. 

And I don't t h i n k the s t a t u t e prevents t h a t , and 

I t h i n k i t has always been the standard of t h i s D i v i s i o n 

t h a t the absence of agreement can only be found i n the case 

t h a t t h e r e has been a c t u a l good f a i t h and reasonable 

e f f o r t s t o a r r i v e a t such agreement, and t h a t has not been 

the case here. 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: Well, I would j u s t say there's no 
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e x p r o p r i a t i o n , they s t i l l have t h e i r mineral i n t e r e s t . I f 

th e r e was e x p r o p r i a t i o n , the p o o l i n g s t a t u t e would probably 

be v o i d under the C o n s t i t u t i o n . 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Probably. Could I speak t o 

counsel i n the hallway a minute. 

(Off the record) 

EXAMINER BROOKS: Very good, i f there's n o t h i n g 

f u r t h e r , Case Number 12,730 w i l l be taken under advisement. 

(Thereupon, these proceedings were concluded a t 

2:18 p.m.) 

* * * 
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